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FCE Bank (FCE or the Company) is the financial services arm of Ford 

Motor Company in Europe and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Ford 

Motor Credit Company (FMCC). FCE employs approximately 3,000 

people who provide automotive financial services to dealers, retail and 

fleet customers in 20 European countries. FCE’s objective is to support 

the sales of our automotive partners (Ford, Jaguar, Land Rover, Mazda, 

and Volvo) while adding value for our shareholder 

In 2005 FCE achieved a further year of record results with profits 

before taxes increasing by £27 million to a record of £356 million. 

Exceptional items represented a £34 million increase to profits 

compared to £47 million last year as detailed in Note 8 ‘Profit from 

operations before tax’ to the accounts. Due to our listed debt securities 

FCE along with other listed companies in the European Union, has 

adopted the requirements of International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS). Whilst the change in accounting standards has no 

impact on the underlying economics or risk of the business, the 2004 

results under IFRS are different from those previously published on 

a UK basis and are reconciled in Note 41 ‘Reconciliations UK GAAP 

to IFRS’ to the accounts. 

In my statement for the last two years I have highlighted that FCE’s 

credit rating is consistent with those of our parent, FMCC. During 

2005 this rating declined and we have therefore continued to diversify 

our funding sources to protect liquidity and mitigate funding costs. 

Securitisation is a key component of our funding program and we 

have directed additional resources and capability into this area. 

FCE continues to focus on its core products and Ford Motor Company’s 

automotive brands and has reduced managed assets in 2005. This 

reduction includes the completion of the sale of FCE’s full-service 

lease portfolios in Europe. This is now consistently branded in 15 

countries as ‘Business Partner’ and is a valuable, non-equity model 

that supports Ford Motor Company’s vehicle sales.

It is a source of pride that FCE continues to foster a culture that spans 

linguistic and cultural boundaries. This means that we are able to 

share best practice such as the adoption of the Lending Automotive 

(LA) receivables system in our Customer Service Centres in Germany 

and the UK – our two largest markets. LA manages a contract from 

its origination to its close and has already been implemented by our 

parent company in the USA. By adopting LA in Europe we can exploit 

economies of scale and facilitate the spread of best practice.

LA is just one example of the strategic IT applications that FCE has 

continued to invest in to increase efficiency and improve customer 

service and satisfaction in Europe. FCE continues to maintain an 

effective corporate governance structure across all the markets it 

operates in and manages its appetite for risk through its existing 

control structures. 

FCE combines the benefits of a highly successful multi-national 

organisation, with one which is responsive to local needs, providing 

a level of personal service that only comes with a close working 

relationship with our automotive partners and dealers. In 2005 our 

internal measurement of the number of dealers completely satisfied 

with our service rose by 5 percentage points in 2005. This highlights 

the value FCE adds to their business, and FCE’s continuing role as a 

competitive advantage to Ford Motor Company. At the same time our 

employee satisfaction index has also improved in 2005.

While the times may be difficult, they are not tougher than the 

strength and commitment of our people who are successfully 

managing a whole variety of changes.

Richard A Corbello

Chairman, FCE Bank plc.

31 March 2006

4

The Chairman’s statement



5FCE Bank plc – ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS – 2005

Ten year financial highlights
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Annual Report of the Directors

Receivables by Market
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Review of business and operations

Description of the business
The Company is authorised as a deposit taking business and an insurance 
intermediary under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and is 
regulated by the UK Financial Services Authority (FSA). In addition to 
operating in the UK, FCE is authorised by the FSA to operate branches 
in 15 other European countries. The Company also holds a standard 
licence pursuant to the Consumer Credit Act 1974 in the UK and other 
licenses to conduct financing business in other European locations. 

The Company’s primary business is to support the sale of Ford and 
affiliated manufacturers’ vehicles in Europe through the respective 
dealer networks.

The following charts show the net receivables by major market and 
brand at December 31, 2000 and December 31, 2005. The market analysis 
demonstrates the growing importance of the Italian, Spanish and French 
markets in our European portfolio. The brand analysis shows the increased 
contribution of Premier Automotive Group (Volvo, Land Rover and Jaguar) 
and Mazda financing. 
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The Company and its subsidiaries provide a variety of retail, leasing and 
wholesale finance plans in the markets in which they operate. Retail 
financing is provided by means of a number of title retention plans, 
including conditional sale, hire purchase and instalment credit loans. 
Operating and finance leases are provided to individual, corporate and 
other institutional customers, covering single vehicles plus large and 
small fleets. In some markets operating leases are provided by business 
partners to whom the Company has outsourced certain functions whilst 
retaining responsibility for marketing and sales in return for fee income 
(see in facing column under Full Service Leasing). The Company provides 
a variety of vehicle wholesale plans to dealers and in addition, loans for 
working capital and property acquisitions.

FCE also offers distinctive branded insurance products in partnership 
with local insurance providers. It distributes these products primarily 
through Ford, Jaguar, Land Rover, Mazda and Volvo dealerships in many 
European markets. Insurance is a fee-based, non-equity business for FCE. 
High loyalty rates mean that insurance continues to encourage volume 
into franchised dealer body shops, as all policies require original 
manufacturer parts for repairs. Payment protection policies are sold in 
most European markets providing additional security to customers. 

In addition to operating in the UK the Company operates branches 
in fifteen other European countries and has subsidiaries in the Czech 
Republic, Finland (where also it has a branch), Hungary and Poland 
which provide a variety of wholesale, leasing and retail vehicle financing 
(see Note 14 ‘Investment in group undertakings’). FCE’s European 
branches and subsidiaries have established additional finance facilities 
and associated trading styles primarily for Ford affiliated manufacturers 
in Europe which are detailed within the European operating locations 
listing on pages 96 and 97.

The Company's Worldwide Trade Financing (WTF) division provides 
finance to dealers in countries where typically there is no established 
local Ford presence. WTF currently provides finance in over 70 countries. 
In addition there are private label operations in some European markets.

Acquisitions and Disposals

Full service leasing
Under our business model for the provision of full service leasing 
products (‘FSL’) the Company retains responsibility for marketing and 
sales, for which it receives a fee income, and outsources finance, leasing, 
maintenance and repair services for current and future portfolios of 
commercial operating leases to a preferred FSL business partner 
identified on a market by market basis. This business model ensures 
that the outsourced operations will deliver a more competitive product 
and will continue marketing support for Ford and affiliated manufacturers. 
In line with this strategy, the Company has sold certain European FSL 
portfolios in 2004 and 2005 and outsourced the on-going provision of 
FSL products in those markets in the future. For further information 
please see Note 33 ‘Acquisitions and Disposals’ on page 76.

The Company continues to review its operations to identify other 
opportunities to generate non-equity business for FCE. 

Ireland
On 23 December 2005 the Company agreed, with effect 3 January 2006, 
to outsource future provision of retail and lease finance in Ireland to a 
third party bank. For further information please see Note 33 ‘Acquisitions 
and Disposals’ on page 76.
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Annual Report of the Directors

Funding 

During 2005 the Company continued to meet a significant portion of 
its funding requirements through sales of receivables due to the stability 
of the market for asset-backed securities, their lower relative costs as a 
result of the Company’s current credit ratings, and the diversity of 
funding sources that they provide. In addition the Company raises funds 
through local bank borrowings, private and public debt offerings and the 
issuance of commercial paper. During the year the Company securitised 
an assignment of new vehicle wholesale receivables originated in Italy up 
to a maximum aggregate principal balance outstanding of EUR€1 billion 
and securitised certain new vehicle retail receivables originating in Spain 
up to a maximum aggregate principal balance outstanding of EUR€ 500 
million.

Revolving multi currency facilities provided to the Company by third 
party banks in return for the sale of Worldwide Trade Financing Division 
receivables were increased during the year – see Note 13 ‘Sales of 
receivables and related financing’. 

The Company continues to make further sales of receivables for those 
securitisation transactions which are in the revolving period as detailed 
within Note 13 ‘Sales of receivables and related financing’.

 
Further securitisation transactions are planned during 2006.

Share Capital

There was no change to the issued share capital of the Company during 
the year. In December 2005 the Company received a capital contribution 
of US$ 49 million from the Company’s shareholder to be used solely to 
make a payment to Jaguar Cars Limited in return for use of group tax relief.

Post balance sheet events 

Refer to note 34 ‘Post balance sheet events’.

Results and dividends

The directors did not declare any dividends during 2005 and do not 
recommend the payment of a final dividend (2004: none).

The profit for the year of £244 million will be transferred to the 
Group’s reserves. 
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Directors 

The full list of present directors is shown on page 6. 
Mrs. C A Bogdanowicz-Bindert was appointed as an additional Non-
Executive Director of the Company effective 1 September 2005. 
Mr. De Rousset-Hall resigned as a director effective 1 December 2005. 
Mr. J Moynes was appointed a director with effect the same date. For 
details on the attendance record of Non Executive Directors please see 
the section entitled Corporate Governance on page 18.

With the exception of Mr. Noone and the four current Non-Executive 
directors, Mrs. C A Bogdanowicz-Bindert, Mr. M Robinson, Mr. S Thomson 
and Mr. C Toner, all directors are FCE employees.

Mr. Noone is employed elsewhere within the Ford Motor Company (U.S.) 
Group.

Mrs. C A Bogdanowicz-Bindert is a Non-Executive director of McBride plc. 
Previously a Non-Executive Director of Bank BPH, PBK Bank and Bank 
Gdanski before which she worked in various senior positions at Lehman 
Brothers and the International Monetary Fund.

Mr. Robinson is a former Regional Managing Director at National 
Westminster Bank plc with whom previously he had held various other 
senior management posts including being Head of Streamline Merchant 
Services and Head of Card Services.

Mr. Thomson, a former Director of Finance of Ford Motor Company 
Limited, is a former President of the Chartered Association of Certified 
Accountants, former Member of the Industrial Development Advisory 
Board and former member of the Financial Reporting Council.

Mr. Toner has been Non Executive Chairman of Barratt Developments 
plc since October 2002, having previously been Non Executive Vice 
Chairman, former Deputy Group Chief Executive of Abbey National plc 
and former Deputy Chairman of NHBC. 

In accordance with the Articles of Association all directors will seek 
re-appointment at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 31 March 
2006. Mr. S Thomson was seventy-nine years of age on 23 June 2005. 
Further to section 293(5) of the Companies Act 1985 special notice has 
been given to shareholders of his intention to stand for re-appointment.

None of the directors have a beneficial interest in the share capital of 
the Company. The executive directors hold shares in and/or options over 
shares in the Company’s ultimate parent company, Ford Motor Company 
– for further details please refer to Note 6 ‘Other operating expenses’.

Going concern

The Directors are confident in making the formal going concern 
statement that they have a reasonable expectation that the Group has 
adequate resources to continue in existence for the foreseeable future. 
For this reason the directors believe it is appropriate to continue to 
adopt the going concern basis in preparing these accounts.

Payments to suppliers

The Company does not operate a single payment policy as each location 
is responsible for agreeing terms of payment in accordance with the 
conditions of the order. The Company seeks to abide by the payment 
terms agreed with suppliers whenever it is satisfied that the supplier has 
provided the goods or services in accordance with the agreed terms and 
conditions.

The ratio, expressed in days, between the amounts owed by the 
Company to trade creditors at the end of the year and the amounts 
invoiced by suppliers in the year ended 31 December 2005 is 45 days 
(2004: 45 days).

Changes in fixed assets

Movements in fixed assets are as disclosed in Note 16 to the financial 
statements.

Donations

The Company and its subsidiaries made no charitable or political 
donations during the year under review.

Employee communication

The Company keeps all employees informed of Company activities on a 
national, pan-European and global level by means of in-house publications, 
Company intranet and the annual publication of its reports and financial 
statements. In addition the Company conducts an annual employee 
satisfaction survey (‘Pulse’) with a feedback and action-planning process 
aimed at continued dialogue between management and staff to achieve 
appropriate levels of employee satisfaction.
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Employment practices

The Company fully complies with relevant legislation enacted by both 
European and national parliaments and any impact the requirements of 
the Financial Services Authority has on Human Resources policy and 
process. The Company is also committed to ‘best practice’ HR policies 
and processes in support of the business objectives and in line with its 
‘Employer of Choice’ strategy.

Diversity

The Company is committed to diversity in the workplace. This values 
differences provided by culture, ethnicity, race, gender, nationality, age, 
religion/beliefs, education, experience, sexual orientation, opinions and 
physical abilities. The Company uses the views of employees to improve 
processes and to foster a culture based on honesty and respect.

Consistent with the principle of diversity the Company also operates 
a Dignity at Work policy which promotes a business environment where 
employees, customers and suppliers are valued for themselves and their 
contribution to the business. The Company is committed to conducting 
its business with integrity and utilising the talents of everyone through 
providing an environment free from unlawful discrimination, harassment, 
bullying and victimisation.

Pensions

The executive directors and the majority of employees of the Company are 
accruing benefits as members of various retirement plans administered 
by Ford affiliated companies – see Note 24 ‘Retirement benefit obligations’.

International Financial Reporting Standards

For the first time FCE has prepared its consolidated financial statements 
for the Company and Group under International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). There are a number of areas where IFRS is significantly 
different to previous UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP), 
including the reporting of securitised assets and related financing and 
recording financial instruments in the financial statements at fair values. 
The increased use of fair values under IFRS is likely to create greater 
volatility in reported results, even though FCE's derivative strategy remains 
defensive and derivatives are not used for speculative or trading purposes. 

A full explanation of the impact of the transition to IFRS is contained 
within Note 41 ‘Reconciliations UK GAAP to IFRS’. 

Directors’ responsibilities for financial statements

The directors are required by UK company law to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year that give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Company and the Group of which it forms a part 
as at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss of the Group 
for that period.

The directors confirm that suitable accounting policies have been 
used and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates have been made in the preparation of the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2005 and that they comply 
with IFRS. The directors also confirm that applicable accounting 
standards have been followed and that the financial statements have 
been prepared on the going concern basis.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records 
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Company and the Group and enable then to ensure that 
the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the 
Group, and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities.

Auditors

In accordance with Section 384 of the Companies Act 1985, a resolution 
proposing the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors 
will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting to be held on 31 March 
2006.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD
Carol V Rogoff
Company Secretary
31 March 2006
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Strategy and performance summary

FCE Bank’s objective is to support the sales of our automotive partners 
while returning value to the shareholder.

Our business model goes beyond simply providing the means for 
customers to finance the purchase of a motor vehicle. It is to develop 
customer loyalty which is a critical success factor for the automotive 
dealer-based distribution system. Market research over time and over 
different markets and sectors consistently shows that customers who 
finance their vehicle purchase through FCE Bank are significantly more 
likely to purchase their next vehicle from the same dealer and the same 
automotive brand.

The customer benefits from convenience of arranging finance and 
insurance at the vehicle point of sale and from the service provided by 
an organisation dedicated to support the customer right through the 
ownership experience. The dealer benefits from increased customer 
satisfaction and loyalty, from the support of a bank that supports dealers 
across the risk range, and that works closely and consistently with the 
vehicle manufacturer. The automotive company benefits from increased 
customer satisfaction and loyalty, consistent support for the dealer 
distribution model, and the efficiency of marketing with the aid of a 
consistent pan-European finance provider. FCE Bank benefits from 
increased vehicle sales as this increases our own sales opportunity, 
through presence at the dealer point of sale, and through manufacturer 
support for finance-based marketing programs.

Strategies

Origination 
Buy it Right, Price it Right 
We will continue to work closely with our brand partners in 2006 to 
create value for our dealers and customers by seeking opportunities to 
go into the market place together, maximising our unique position as 
Ford’s financing company. Risk management is also key to our continued 
value and profitability. We have extensive risk management experience and 
our focus is on leveraging and strengthening global risk skills internally. 
Through these efforts, we will continue to optimise profitability as well 
as generate incremental vehicle sales for Ford.

Servicing
Operate Efficiently, Collect Effectively, Enhance Owner Loyalty 
For several years FCE has invested significantly in technology and skills. 
This investment program has enabled us to reduce the number of unique 
market/brand systems in core activities. Our two major service centres 
in Germany and Britain combine with the US service centres of our 
parent company to drive efficiencies globally by increasing commonality 
and by sharing best practices. We are focused on driving cost reductions 
in proportion to the overall size of our business while improving customer 
service and owner loyalty.

Funding
Fund it Efficiently, Manage Risk 
Our funding strategy is to maintain liquidity and access to diverse funding 
sources that are cost effective. In recent years, lower credit ratings generally 
have resulted in higher borrowing costs and reduced access to capital 
markets. Our credit ratings are closely associated with the credit ratings 
of Ford, which have been lowered in the last several years. This is mainly 
a reflection of concerns regarding Ford’s automotive cash flow and 
profitability, declining share of the US market, excess industry capacity, 
industry pricing pressure and rising US health care costs. Asset-backed 
funding programs have become more cost-effective compared with 
unsecured funding programs, and allow us access to a broader investor 
base. We plan to meet a significant portion of our funding requirements 
through securitisation transactions in 2006.
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Key Financial Ratios 2005 2004

Return on Equity 12.3% 15.5%

Margin (Net Income/Assets) 3.29% 3.32%

Cost Efficiency Ratio (Cost/Assets) 1.4% 1.3%

Cost Affordability Ratio (Cost/Income) 42% 39%

Credit Loss Ratio (Losses/Assets) 32 bpts 38 bpts

As noted in the Chairman’s statement, in 2005 FCE Bank achieved a 
further year of record pre-tax profits. This was mainly due to a strong 
improvement in credit loss performance discussed later. Tax increased 
mainly reflecting payment for use of group tax relief in 2005 compared 
to gifted group relief in the prior year. As a result return on equity has 
fallen.

FCE Bank plc is holding significantly more capital than is required by 
either our regulatory minimum or our internal risk-based capital policy. 
This supplements our funding program and is a source of further 
reassurance for our unsecured fixed income investors.

Sales Results 2005 2004

Share of Western Europe Passenger Car Market*  12.5% 12.9%

FCE New Contracts as Pct. of Vehicle Sales 28.5% 28.9%

FCE Sales of New Retail/Lease Contracts (000’s) 734 782

*(Source: ACEA)

Our partners’ combined share of the Western European passenger car 
market reduced to 12.5% in 2005. This represents a return to the same 
level achieved in 2003 and reflects a highly competitive automotive market 
where manufacturers are balancing profits and volume. (Prior years 
combined market share: 2000 – 12.0%; 2001 – 12.0%; 2002 – 12.5%.)

Consistent with the funding strategy, our sales efforts are focused on 
supporting Ford Motor Company’s automotive brands and our core 
products which are inherently low risk. Although new contract sales 
reduced, the total in 2005 represented about three quarters of a million 
new or returning customers. We have largely withdrawn from marginal 
areas of business outside our core brands and products. This withdrawal 
together with our partnering strategy for the full service leasing business 
(described in the Directors’ Report), largely accounts for the reduction 
in managed assets since 2003.

Satisfaction Indices 2005 2004

Customer Satisfaction Index (CSI)  

- Completely and Very Satisfied 85% 85%

- Completely Satisfied 41% 41%

Dealer Satisfaction Index (DSI)  

- Completely and Very Satisfied 80% 79%

- Completely Satisfied 45% 40%

We monitor customer satisfaction through sample market research 
covering a range of questions. The CSI and DSI metrics we focus on 
internally reflect the percentage of those customers who are completely 
satisfied with their experience in dealing with us. Customers have different 
expectations by country and by automotive brand and these metrics are 
used internally to drive improvements in our service as a key contributor 
to further improving customer loyalty.
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Strategy and performance summary

The cost ratios exclude exceptional items in order to show underlying 
performance as explained in the facing table (including exceptional items 
would improve the ratios). The cost efficiency ratio has improved from 
around 2% at the beginning of the decade to 1.4% in 2005. A key contributor 
to this improvement has been the implementation of common pan-
European systems platforms across the business, in turn driving process 
harmonisation and economies of scale. As we operate with a smaller 
balance sheet these ratios will be difficult to sustain. We have therefore 
accelerated our cost efficiency programs which include seeking global 
process efficiencies and the continued application of our customer-driven 
Six Sigma program.

The credit loss ratio is coming down from a peak in 2002/2003 which 
reflected the economic cycle across Europe and difficult trading conditions 
for dealers particularly in Germany. Performance in 2005 is favourable 
in consumer credit losses reflecting continued improvements in risk 
management processes and improved economic conditions across most 
of Europe. It is also strongly favourable in dealer losses where focused 
collection performance activity has resulted in recoveries of losses that 
had previously been written off.

We would normally expect an average loss ratio of around 45 to 50 basis 
points. Almost all our lending is secured, normally against the motor 
vehicle, and FCE Bank derives strong benefits from the risk management 
expertise that has been developed by Ford Motor Credit Company in the 
sophisticated US market.

Memo: Key Financial data 2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil

A Average Year Assets £18,070 £18,980

B Average Year Equity 1,987 1,719

 INCOME:

 - Operating income £827 £900

 - Depreciation of Operating lease vehicles (211) (232)

 - Deduct exceptional items (Note 8)  (21) (37)

C Normalised Income (Margin) £595 £631

 OPERATING COSTS:

 - Other Operating expenses £(248) £(247)

 - Office equipment and leasehold 

    improvements depreciation (1) (2)

 - Deduct exceptional item (Note 8)  (1) -

D Normalised Operating costs £(250) £(249)

E Net losses (Note 12) £58 £72

F Profit after tax £244 £266 

 KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS:

 Return on Equity (F/B) 12.3% 15.5%

 Margin (C/A) 3.29%  3.32%

 Cost Efficiency Ratio (D/A) 1.4% 1.3%

 Cost Affordability Ratio (D/C) 42% 39% 

 Credit loss Ratio (E/A) 0.32% 0.38%
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Risk management

In the normal course of business, FCE is exposed to several types of risk. 
These risks include primarily credit, vehicle residual value, financial market 
(including interest rate, currency, counterparty and liquidity risks) and 
operational risk. Each form of risk is uniquely managed in the context of 
its contribution to overall risk. Business decisions are evaluated on a risk-
adjusted basis and products are priced to be consistent with these risks. 

FCE continuously reviews and improves its risk management practices.

Credit risk management

Credit risk is the possibility of loss from a customer’s failure to make 
payments according to contract terms. Whilst credit risk has a significant 
impact on our business, it is mitigated by the majority of FCE retail, 
leasing and wholesale financing being title retention plans. In the case 
of customer default the value of the re-possessed collateral provides a 
source of protection. FCE actively manages the credit risk on retail and 
commercial portfolios to balance the levels of risk and return. 

Retail products (vehicle instalment sale and lease contracts) are 
classified by risk ranking, term and whether the vehicle financed is new 
or used. This segmented data is used to assist with product pricing to 
ensure risk factors are appropriately considered. In our largest markets, 
data segmentation is also used in contract servicing to ensure contracts 
receive attention appropriate to their risk level. In Germany and the UK 
centralised servicing in the respective Customer Service Centres includes 
the application of enhanced risk management techniques and controls, 
e.g. harmonised originations and collections practices plus the realisation 
of economies of scale through the introduction and use of the latest 
servicing technology. 

Retail credit underwriting typically includes a credit bureau review of 
each applicant together with an internal review and verification process. 
Retail credit loss management strategy is based on historical experience 
of many thousands of contracts. Statistically-based retail credit risk 
rating models are used to determine the creditworthiness of applicants. 
Performance is monitored regularly and models are reviewed, revalidated 
and recalibrated as necessary.

FCE has developed retail behavioural models in the UK and Germany 
to assist in determining optimal collection strategies. Accounts are placed 
in risk categories for collection follow-up. Every reasonable effort is made 
to collect on delinquent accounts and keep accounts current. Repossession 
is considered a last resort. A repossessed vehicle is sold and proceeds 
are applied to the amount owing on the receivable. FCE endeavours to 
realise maximum vehicle sale proceeds by using various resale channels. 

Collection of the remaining balance continues after repossession until 
the account is paid in full or is deemed uncollectable by FCE.

FCE extends commercial credit primarily to franchised dealers selling 
Ford Motor Company’s brands in the form of approved lines of credit to 
purchase inventories of new and used vehicles. In addition, FCE provides 
mortgages, working capital and other types of loans to dealers. FCE also 
provides automotive financing for leasing and daily rental companies, as 
well as other commercial entities.

Each commercial lending request is evaluated, taking into consideration 
the borrower’s financial condition, supporting security, debt servicing 
capacity, and numerous other financial and qualitative factors. All credit 
exposures are scheduled for review at least annually at the appropriate 
commercial credit committee.

A risk evaluation rating is assigned to each dealer. Asset verification 
processes are in place and include the use of physical audits of vehicle 
inventory with increased audit frequency for higher risk dealers. In 
addition, inventory-financing payoffs are monitored to detect adverse 
deviations from typical payoff patterns, in which case appropriate 
actions are taken.

Vehicle residual value risk management

Vehicle residual value risk management is the possibility that the actual 
proceeds realised by FCE upon the sale of returned vehicles at contract 
termination will be lower than that forecast at contract initiation. FCE sets 
the expected residual values based on input from independent consultants 
(who forecast residual values), current trade guide valuations and our 
own proprietary knowledge of historical experience and forward-looking 
information available to FCE. This information includes new product 
plans, marketing programmes and quality metrics. Any unfavourable 
gap between FCE’s forecast and expected residual values for existing 
contracts results in an adjustment to the carrying value of the asset on 
the balance sheet. Vehicle residual value provision adequacy is reviewed 
quarterly to reflect changes in the projected values. At contract end, FCE 
maximises residual value proceeds by using various resale channels 
including auctions, trade buyers and dealerships.

For further details see Note 28 ‘Vehicle residual values’.
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Financial market risk management

The objective of financial market risk management is to maximise 
financing margin while limiting the impact of changes in interest rates 
and foreign exchange rates. Interest rate and currency exposures are 
monitored and managed by FCE as an integral part of its overall risk 
management programme, which recognises the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seeks to reduce potential adverse effects on FCE’s 
operating results. Risk is reduced through the use of interest rate and 
foreign exchange derivatives. FCE’s derivatives strategy is defensive; 
derivatives are not used for speculative purposes.

For further details on the use of derivatives see Note 11, ‘Derivative 
Financial Instruments’ and Note 37 ‘Interest rate risk’.

Interest rate risk
FCE’s asset base consists primarily of fixed-rate retail instalment sale and 
lease contracts, with an average life of about three years, and floating 
rate wholesale financing receivables with an average life of about 90 days. 
Funding sources consist primarily of short-term commercial paper, term 
debt (public and inter-company) and receivable sales (including 
securitisation). To ensure funding availability over a business cycle, FCE 
often borrows longer-term debt (two to five years). Interest rate swaps 
are used to change the interest characteristics of the debt to match, 
within a tolerance range, the interest rate characteristics of FCE’s assets. 
This matching maintains margins and reduces profit volatility. Since a 
portion of assets is funded with equity, some income volatility can occur 
as changes in interest rates impact the repricing of FCE’s assets and 
liabilities. This volatility is usually small.
 

The interest rate sensitivity of FCE’s assets and liabilities, including 
hedges, is evaluated each month. The interest rate repricing gap 
information is shown in Note 37 ‘Interest rate risk’.

Currency risk
FCE generally manages assets and liabilities in the location’s local currency, 
thus minimising exposure to exchange rate movements. When a different 
currency is used, FCE typically uses foreign currency agreements to 
hedge specific debt instruments. FCE’s currency exposure position is 
regularly monitored and is reported to the Financial Services Authority 
(FSA) on a quarterly basis.

Counterparty risk
Counterparty risk relates to the loss to FCE that could occur if the 
counterparty to an investment, interest rate or foreign currency hedge 
with FCE defaults. Counterparty exposure limits are established in order 
to minimise risk and provide counterparty diversification. Exposures to 
counterparties, including the mark-to-market on derivatives, are 
monitored continually. FCE’s Large Exposure position is reported to the 
FSA on a quarterly basis.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the possibility of being unable to meet all present and 
future financial obligations as they become due. One of FCE’s major 
objectives is to maintain funding availability through any economic or 
business cycle. FCE focuses on developing funding sources to support 
both growth and refinancing of maturing debt. FCE also issues debt 
which on average mature later than assets liquidate, further enhancing 
overall liquidity. 

Management closely monitors the amount and mix of short-term 
funding to total debt, the overall composition of total debt and the 
availability of committed credit facilities in relation to the level of 
outstanding short-term debt. 

FCE has the ability to use committed lines of credit from major banks, 
providing additional levels of liquidity. About 70% of these facilities 
have five-year terms. These facilities do not contain restrictive financial 
covenants (e.g. debt-to-equity limitations) or material adverse change 
clauses that could preclude borrowing under these facilities. FCE’s 
liquidity position is reported to the FSA on a quarterly basis.

In the normal course of funding transactions, FCE may generate more 
proceeds than are necessary for immediate funding needs. These excess 
amounts are maintained primarily as highly liquid investments, providing 
liquidity for our short-term funding obligations and flexibility in the use 
of other funding programs. We monitor our cash levels daily and adjust 
them as necessary to support our short-term liquidity needs.
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Risk management

Operational risk management 

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed 
internal processes, people or systems, or from external events. This 
definition captures operational risk events such as IT problems, human 
error and shortcomings in the organisational structure, legal changes 
and lapses in internal controls, fraud or external threats.

FCE takes a pro-active approach to operational risk management, 
anticipating risks and minimising exposure through risk identification, 
assessment, monitoring, control and mitigation. FCE seeks to maintain 
a strong and open operational risk management culture throughout the 
organisation, embodied within a sound corporate governance structure 
and supported by company-wide operational risk management processes, 
policies and procedures.

The Operational Risk Committee (‘ORC’) has responsibility for reviewing 
and monitoring major operational risks and for promoting the use of 
sound operational risk management across FCE. Among some of the 
main areas of focus for the ORC are the implementation of appropriate 
policies, processes and procedures to control or mitigate material 
exposure to losses and the maintenance of suitable contingency 
arrangements for all areas to ensure that FCE can continue to function 
in the event of an unforeseen interruption.

The guiding principle is that management at all levels is responsible 
for managing operational risks. FCE also maintains a strong internal 
control culture across the organisation through the Operations Review 
Program, a self-assessment control process used by the locations, which 
is reinforced by central controls from the Internal Control Office (‘ICO’) 
and Ford General Auditors Office (‘GAO’).
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General

The Company considers effective corporate governance as a key factor 
underlying the strategies and operations of the Group. Since only some 
of the Company’s debt securities are Listed on the London Stock Exchange 
there are significantly fewer reporting obligations on the Company 
compared with a company with Listed equity. Nevertheless the Company 
chooses to comply with many of the provisions of the Combined Code 
on Corporate Governance applicable to Listed Companies except for 
those that are not appropriate for a wholly owned subsidiary. The Company 
has developed internal standards to ensure that the Group’s business is 
conducted within a strong and defined control framework. These internal 
standards are well suited to the evolving demands of corporate governance 
in highly regulated, multi-national environments.

Board of Directors 

The Company is controlled through its Board of Directors. The Board’s 
main roles are to create value for shareholders, to provide leadership to 
the Company, to approve the Company’s strategic objectives and to ensure 
that the necessary financial and other resources are made available to 
the management to enable them to meet those objectives. In addition, 
the Board of Directors has the ultimate responsibility for ensuring that 
the Company has systems of corporate governance and internal control 
appropriate to the various business environments in which it operates. 
The Board regularly evaluates all risks affecting the business and the 
processes put in place within the business to control them. The process 
is focused on the key risks, with formal risk mitigation, transfer or 
acceptance documented. FCE controls are based on Ford standard controls 
to safeguard assets, check the accuracy and reliability of financial and 
non-financial data, promote operational efficiency and encourage 
adherence to prescribed managerial policies. Policy Statements governing 
credit and treasury risk management are reviewed annually. The Board 
also reviews the Group’s commercial strategy, business and funding 
plans, the annual operating budget, capital structure and dividend 
policy, statutory accounts, financial performance and operation of each 
of the Company’s businesses, together with receiving other business 
reports and presentations from senior management, and is responsible 
for the appropriate constitution of Committees of the Board and to 
regularly review their activities and terms of reference . 

Corporate governance

The composition of the Board is shown on page 6. The Board of 
Directors met three times during 2005. Three Non-Executive Directors 
were in post for the first two meetings. Two attended the first meeting 
and all three attended the second meeting. With effect from 1 September 
2005 the Company has had four Non-Executive Directors and all attended 
the third meeting. All directors are equally accountable under the law for 
the proper stewardship of the Company’s affairs. Throughout the year 
under review, the Board and its Committees have been supplied with 
information and papers to ensure that all aspects of the company’s affairs 
are reviewed on an annual basis in accordance with a rolling agenda of 
work.

The Non-Executive Directors fulfil a vital additional role in corporate 
and regulatory accountability. The Board considers that the Non-Executive 
Directors are independent in that they have no material business relation-
ship with the Company (either directly or as a partner, shareholder or 
officer of an organisation that has a relationship with the Company) and 
that they neither represent the sole shareholder nor have any involvement 
in the day to day management of FCE Bank plc or its subsidiaries. As 
such they bring objectivity and independent judgement to the Board, 
complement the Executive Directors’ skills, experience and detailed 
knowledge of the business and play a vital role in the governance of the 
Company through their membership of the Audit Committee.

 
There is no limitation on the term of office for the Non-Executive 

directors. Mr. Thomson has served on the Board for twelve years and, 
as the longest serving Board director, contributes invaluable experience 
and continuity to its deliberations. Each year the Non Executive Directors 
hold a meeting with the Chairman to discuss Executive Director succession 
planning, corporate governance and any other relevant issues. The Board 
reviews the number of Executive and Non-Executive Directors periodically 
to maintain an appropriate balance for effective control and direction of 
the business.

Within the financial and overall objectives for the Company, the 
management of the Company is delegated to Directors and management 
through the Chairman. Each of the six Executive Directors is accountable 
for the conduct and performance of their particular business within the 
agreed business strategy. They have full authority to act subject to the 
reserved powers and sanctioning limits laid down by the Board and 
Company policies and guidelines. 
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Selection of Directors

Specialist executive recruitment agencies are employed to find suitable 
non executive directors benchmarked against formal competency criteria. 
Formal interviews are held with senior Company management before a 
preferred candidate meets other members of the Board including all 
the current Non Executive Directors. During the year, after a candidate 
search, a further Non-Executive Director, Mrs Bogdanowicz-Bindert, was 
recruited and appointed to the Board to address successional arrangements 
and broaden the skills, experience and diversity of the Board. Executive 
Directors (including the Chairman) are selected through a Ford Financial 
Personnel Development Committee process. Succession plans for directors 
and other senior appointments are reviewed with senior representatives 
of the Company’s parent and the Non-Executive directors. Proposals for 
all new Executive and Non-Executive Director appointments are then 
submitted for corporate approval both by senior Ford Financial Management 
in the US and to the Ford US Corporate Governance Committee before 
being submitted to the FCE Board of Directors for formal legal approval. 

Training of Directors 

Consideration is given to the training needs of directors on their appointment 
to the Board and Non-Executive Directors benefit from a comprehensive 
induction to the Company’s business, risk management and regulatory 
environment. Also there is at least one off-site senior management 
financial review and strategy meeting held each year to which the Non-
Executive Directors are invited and a training day is available as required 
for the Non-Executives where topical issues and developments can be 
discussed. From time to time Ford Motor Company develops training 
programs for various aspects of Director's duties and responsibilities, 
corporate governance and regulatory and general compliance matters. 

Evaluation and Compensation of Directors 

Each Executive Director is evaluated by the Company’s performance 
review process and remuneration is determined in line with the global 
compensation policy of Ford Motor Credit Company and Ford Motor 
Company. Senior representatives of the Company’s parent evaluate the 
performance of the Chairman.

Non-Executive Directors receive a flat fee. The fee was reviewed during 
2005 and increased. The Non-Executive Directors do not receive any 
other remuneration or participate in any incentive arrangements. 
Mr Thomson is in receipt of a pension from Ford Motor Company 
Limited (‘FMCL’) accrued from completed service with FMCL prior to 
his appointment to the FCE Board of Directors. In addition, as a senior 
management FMCL pensioner Mr Thomson is entitled to a loan from 
the Company to purchase a new vehicle from FMCL (see Note 6 ‘Other 
operating expenses’).

Committees of the Board 

Three Committees reporting directly into the Board were established in 
1998 and a fourth, the Administrative Committee, was established on 
30 November 2004. Each of the Board Committees has specific delegated 
authority and detailed terms of reference which is reviewed annually with 
a report on the activities of each Committee presented to each meeting 
of the full Board of Directors. 

The following chart shows the interrelationship of the Group’s Board 
and committees that deal with corporate governance:

Board Of 
Directors

Audit 
Committee

Credit Policy & Credit 
Risk Committee

Commercial Credit 
Committees

Administrative 
Committee

Pricing 
Committee

Sales & Marketing 
Committee

Operational Risk 
Committee

Regulatory Compliance 
Committee

Personnel Development 
Committees

European Project 
Portfolio Board

Data Management 
Steering Committee

ITIO Operating 
Review Committee

Executive 
Committee

Global FMCC Exec
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The Administrative Committee on behalf of the Board is responsible for:
• the review and approval of the terms and conditions of securitisation 

and debt issuance transactions to meet the timing of the financial 
markets in line with applicable policy statements and debt and funding 
limitations established by the FCE Board of Directors from time to 
time.

• consideration and approval of other day-to-day business matters 
delegated to it for which formal deliberation and/or documentation 
is legally required to evidence approval rather than approval under 
general management delegated authorities.

The membership of the Administrative Committee comprises all 
statutory directors of the Company excluding Non-Executive Directors, 
with any two directors constituting a quorum. The Administrative 
Committee has no formal meeting schedule and meets as required.

The Audit Committee on behalf of the Board has responsibilities which 
include:
• the review of financial statements
• overseeing the effectiveness of internal control over reporting and 

operations
• overseeing the process of monitoring compliance and regulatory 

matters

The Audit Committee is chaired by Stanley Thomson, and met three 
times in 2005. All Non-Executive Directors are members of the Committee. 
There is no limitation on the term of appointment to the Committee. For 
the first two meetings of 2005 the Company had three Non-Executive 
Directors who all attended on both occasions. From 1 September 2005 
the Company has had four Non-Executive Directors who all attended the 
third committee meeting in November 2005. The quorum for the Audit 
Committee is any two members. The Audit Committee’s main duties 
include the review of FCE Annual Accounts, audit reports from 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC), the Ford General Auditors Office 
(GAO), the Internal Control Office (ICO) and the review of risk 
management systems. Specific items reviewed during the year included 
preparations for the Basel II Capital Requirements Directive, on-going 
Sarbanes-Oxley compliance and preparations for the adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 

The Company has established a whistle-blowing procedure for the 
confidential and anonymous submission by employees of concerns 
regarding accounting, internal controls or auditing matters. A report on 
any incidences reported is presented to each Committee meeting. The 
external auditors and representatives from GAO and ICO, together with 
the Executive Director Finance, Planning and Risk and the FSA Compliance 
Officer attend meetings under a standing invitation whilst the Company 
Secretary attends as Secretary to the Committee. In addition, the Audit 
Committee often requires other directors, managers and staff to attend 
and agree audit/review actions in response to the Audit Committee’s 
recommendations. The Non-Executive Directors also have held private 
meetings with the external auditors during the year.

The Board is confident that the collective experience of the Audit 
Committee members enables them, as a group, to act as an effective 
audit committee. The Committee also has access to the financial 
expertise of the Group and its auditors, internal and external, and can 
seek further professional advice at the Company’s expense if required.

The Credit Policy and Credit Risk Committee (‘Credit Policy Committee’), 
usually Chaired by the FCE Chairman, determines on behalf of the Board, 
the general credit policy of the Group on a pan-European basis. It over-
sees and reviews retail and commercial credit risk and vehicle residual 
value risk. It reports to each full Board meeting held during the year. 
Six of the eleven members of the Credit Policy Committee are members 
of the Board of Directors. The Credit Policy Committee consists of 
individuals responsible for the key components of the business; British, 
German and European markets, brand directors, and pan-European and 
cross-brand functions such as credit policy and credit risk, marketing, 
sales, and finance. The quorum for the Credit Policy Committee is five 
members to include two from either the Chairman, the Executive Director 
Finance, Planning and Risk, the Executive Director, Marketing, Sales and 
Strategy and the Director Credit Policy and Risk Management provided 
one is either the Executive Director Finance, Planning and Risk or the 
Director Credit Policy and Risk Management. In addition a Business 
Unit Head is required for the quorum. The Credit Policy Committee 
meets monthly. During 2005 it held 11 meetings.
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Corporate governance

The Commercial Credit Committees have been established as sub-
committees of the Credit Policy Committee to review and approve 
commercial lending requests across Europe. The Commercial Credit 
Committees are constituted and operate at district, country, European 
and International levels according to delegated approval authorities and 
risk assessment. 

The Executive Committee chaired by the FCE Chairman, reviews, on 
behalf of the Board, the Group’s strategic direction and policy and the 
enhancement of shareholder and customer value whilst improving growth, 
efficiency and profitability. The Executive Committee meets monthly and 
reports to the Board at each of the full Board meetings held during the 
year. The Executive Committee has fourteen members of whom six are 
members of the Board of Directors. The Executive Committee consists 
of individuals responsible for the key components of the business; 
British, German and European markets and brand directors, as well as 
pan-European and cross-brand functions such as credit policy and credit 
risk, information technology, marketing, sales, general counsel, strategy 
and finance. Either the Chairman or the Executive Director Finance, 
Planning and Risk are required in attendance as one of seven members 
needed to constitute a quorum. The Committee meets monthly and held 
12 meetings during 2005.

Several sub-committees have been established and meet regularly and 
cover all areas of the business. These sub-committees report into the 
Executive Committee:

• The Regulatory Compliance Committee informs senior management 
and the Audit Committee on regulatory compliance issues. Its 
responsibilities include monitoring and evaluating regulatory changes 
and determining FCE’s response or changes needed. The Committee 
also reviews some of the returns submitted to the FSA.

• The Information Technology Office Operating Review Committee 
monitors, aligns and resolves plans and priorities across FCE Bank plc 
to support key information technology related projects and initiatives.

• The Operational Risk Committee has the overall responsibility for 
reviewing and monitoring major operational risks and for promoting 
the use of sound operational risk management across FCE.

• The Data Management Steering Committee provides a co-ordinated 
input to process and IT application development to meet business 
requirements through data solutions that are consistent with strategic 
priorities. 

• The Sales and Marketing Committee facilitates regular and timely 
information exchanges between business units and functional areas 
covering sales, marketing and operational matters.

• The European Project Portfolio Board oversees the management of 
FCE’s strategic projects. This Committee meets on a monthly basis 
to review, approve and prioritise large / strategic projects.

• The Pricing Committee reviews and approves pricing strategies and 
policies on a national, regional and European basis.

• The Personnel Development Committees drive personnel development 
and career and vacancies planning. The Committees are comprised of 
members of management, who are assisted by Human Resources 
representatives.

In addition, the Executive Committee may from time-to-time appoint 
working groups or steering committees to address specific business 
risks and opportunities.
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Corporate governance

Audit and internal control

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP conducts audits of FCE's financial 
statements, in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, 
including consideration of FCE’s internal control structure. PwC provides 
external audit opinions on FCE’s financial statements.

To help ensure that the auditors’ independence and objectivity are not 
prejudiced by the provision of non-audit services, the Audit Committee 
has agreed that the external auditors should be excluded from providing 
management, strategic or IT consultancy services and all other non-
audit related services, unless the firm appointed as external auditor is:
- the only provider of the specific expertise/service required; or
- the clear leader in the provision of the service and is able to provide 
  that service on a competitively priced basis.

As auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers will undertake work that they 
must or are best placed to complete. This includes tax-related work, 
formalities related to borrowings, regulatory reports or work in respect 
of acquisitions and disposals.

Ford’s General Auditors Office (‘GAO’) is fully independent from FCE; 
its coverage is based on the relative risk assessment of each ‘audit entity’, 
which is defined as a collection of processes and systems that are closely 
related. The GAO’s mission is to provide objective assurance and 
advisory services to Management and the Board of Ford Motor Company 
and to the FCE Audit Committee in order to improve the efficiency and 
effectiveness of Company operations and assist the Company in 
achieving its objectives through systemic and disciplined auditing.

Internal Control Office (‘ICO’) is based within FCE to offer control 
consultancy, audits, process reviews, advice on systems controls and 
control training across all brands. ICO access to internal reports and 
operational experience informs the conduct of operational reviews and 
audits. The department has created and delivered training in ongoing 
controls as part of formal feedback to reflect learning points derived 
from the audits and reviews. This matches industry leading-edge 
practices to assist management in early identification of potential 
control risks which is an essential element of the process to ensure 
compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

The Operations Review Programme (‘ORP’) has been designed, 
implemented and revised for the last several years to embed the 
assessment of risk and opportunity across the Group. The ORP provides 
the means for the management of each location or activity to continually 
monitor control integrity throughout their operation by the performance 
of regular and appropriate checks and embeds sound governance 
principles in key processes. The ORP facilitates high levels of control 
self-assessment as part of good business practice. It also embodies the 
principles established by the UK’s Turnbull Committee on achieving the 
standards in the Combined Code of Corporate Governance. The 
Operations Review Programme has been enhanced to encompass 
control self-assessments specifically for Sarbanes-Oxley compliance.
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We have audited the group and parent company financial statements (the 
‘financial statements’) of FCE Bank plc for the year ended 31 December 
2005 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Group 
and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Group and Parent Company 
Cash Flow Statements, the Group and Parent Company Statement of 
Recognised Income and Expense, the Group and Parent Company 
Statement of Change in Shareholders’ Equity and the related notes. 
These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting 
policies set out therein. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union 
are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance 
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the 
opinion, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members 
as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 
and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or 
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to 
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where 
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements 
give a true and fair view and have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you if, in our opinion, 
the Directors’ Report is not consistent with the financial statements, if 
the company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not 
received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, 
or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and 
other transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and 
consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. 
The other information comprises only the Directors’ Report, the 
Chairman’s Statement, Risk Management and Corporate Governance. 
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any 
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial 
statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of FCE Bank plc

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An 
audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an 
assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the 
directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether 
the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and company’s 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information 
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us 
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud 
or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated 
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial 
statements.

 
Opinion
In our opinion:
• the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance 

with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the group’s 
affairs as at 31 December 2005 and of its profit and cash flows for the 
year then ended;

• the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union as applied 
in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the 
state of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2005 and 
cash flows for the year then ended; and 

• the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Companies Act 1985.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London 
31 March 2006

Notes:
The maintenance and integrity of the FCE Bank plc website is the 
responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does 
not involve consideration of these matters and accordingly, the auditors 
accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the 
financial statements since they were initially presented on the website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2005

Consolidated income statement /
Statement of total recognised 
income and expense

   Group

 Notes 2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil

Interest income  £1,143 £1,212

Interest expense  (630) (667)

NET INTEREST INCOME 2 513 545

Fees and commissions income  64 64

Fees and commissions payable  (6) (5)

NET FEES AND COMMISSIONS INCOME 3 58 59

Dividend income 4 1 -

Other operating income 5 255 296

OPERATING INCOME  827 900

Impairment losses on loans and advances 12 (28) (87)

Other operating expenses 6 (248) (247)

Depreciation on tangible fixed assets 16 (212) (234)

Fair value adjustments to derivative 

financial instruments 7 17 (3)

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE TAX 8 356 329

Income tax expenses 9 (112) (63)

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 

AFTER TAX AND PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  £244 £266

Statement of total recognised income and expense

   Group

 Notes 2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil

Profit for the financial year  £244 £266

Cash flow hedges fair value gains 7 7 7

Currency translation differences on 

foreign currency net investments 30 (17) 3

Capital contribution  30 28 -

TOTAL RECOGNISED INCOME RELATING

TO THE YEAR SINCE LAST ANNUAL REPORT  £262 £276
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Balance sheets

Balance sheets
as at 31 December 2005

  Company  Group

     

 Notes 2005 2004 2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

ASSETS     

Cash and advances to other banks  10 £612 £1,037 £1,042 £1,354

Derivative financial instruments 11 37 71 39 69

Loans and advances to customers 12 15,146 15,605 15,399 15,887

Investment in group undertakings 14 72 72 - -

Goodwill and other intangible assets 15 186 187 38 39

Property and equipment 16 262 651 342 739

Deferred tax assets 17 45 87 51 91

Other assets 18 1,112 1,010 590 460

TOTAL ASSETS  £17,472 £18,720 £17,501 £18,639 

 

LIABILITIES     

Due to other banks 19 £3,142 £2,084 £4,105 £2,845

Due to parent and related undertakings 20 6,008 6,816 4,950 5,963

Derivative financial instruments 11 80 186 80 186

Debt securities in issue 21 5,031 6,656 5,210 6,754

Other borrowed funds 22 520 494 520 494

Other liabilities 23 452 459 475 459

Deferred tax liabilities 17 35 47 43 82

TOTAL LIABILITIES  £15,268 £16,742 £15,383 £16,783

     

CAPITAL AND RESERVES     

Ordinary shares 29 614 614 614 614

Share premium 29 352 352 352 352

Retained earnings  30 1,238 1,019 1,152 897

Other reserves 30 - (7) - (7)

     

Total shareholders’ equity  £2,204 £1,978 £2,118 £1,856

     

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  £17,472 £18,720 £17,501 £18,639 

The financial statements on pages 24 to 94 were approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2006 
and were signed on its behalf by:

R A Corbello P R Jepson
Chairman Executive Director, Finance,
  Planning and Risk



26

Statement of changes 
in shareholders’ equity

Company Notes Share  Share  Retained  Reserves Total

  Capital premium earnings 

  £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Balance at 1 January 2004 29/30 £614 £352 £794 £(15) £1,745

Cash flow hedges fair value gains  7 - - - 8 8

Currency translation differences 30 - - (2) - (2)

Net gains/(losses) not recognised in the income statement:  - - (2) 8 6

Net profit 30 - - 227 - 227

Balance at 31 December 2004/

1 January 2005 29/30 £614 £352 £1,019 £(7) £1,978

      

Cash flow hedges fair value gains 7 - - - 7 7

Currency translation differences 30 - - (15)  (15)

      

Net gains/(losses) not recognised in the income statement:  - - (15) 7 (8)

      

Capital contribution 30 - - 28 - 28

      

Net profit 30 - - 206 - 206

Balance at 31 December 2005 29/30 £614 £352 £1,238 £- £2,204

Group Notes Share  Share  Retained  Reserves Total

  Capital premium earnings 

  £mil £mil £mil £mil £mil

Balance at 1 January 2004 29/30 £614 £352 £628 £(14) £1,580

Cash flow hedges fair value gains 7 - - - 7 7

Currency translation differences 30 - - 3 - 3

Net gains/(losses) not recognised in the income statement  - - 3 7 10

Net profit 30 - - 266 - 266

Balance at 31 December 2004/

1 January 2005 29/30 614 352 897 (7) 1,856

Cash flow hedges fair value gains 7 - - - 7 7

Currency translation differences 30 - - (17) - (17)

Net gains/(losses) not recognised in the income statement  - - (17) 7 (10)

Capital contribution 30 - - 28 - 28

Net profit 30 - - 244 - 244

Balance at 31 December 2005 29/30 £614 £352 £1,152 £- £2,118
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Cash flow statements

Cash flow statements
for the year ended 31 December 2005

 Company Group

 Notes 2005 2004 2005 2004
  £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit from operations before tax 1 346 £300 356 £329
Depreciation expense on property and equipment  3 4 3 4
Depreciation expense on operating lease vehicles  174 191 209 233
Effects of foreign currency translation  (15) (2) (18) 3
Loss on sale of operating lease vehicles  3 4 3 6
Provision for identified credit losses  65 135 73 132
Net increase/(decrease) accrued liabilities and deferred income  (3) (7) 2 (14)
Net decrease deferred charges and prepaid expenses  15 6 21 13
Amortisation of other intangibles 15 5 2 5 2
Investments in group undertakings written down in the year 14 - 4 - -
Unrealised gain/(loss) on mark-to-market valuations  (6) 8 (10) 10
    587 645 644 718

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Net (increase)/decrease in financed receivables  341 129 362 130
Net (increase)/decrease in vehicles awaiting resale  (33) 17 (33) 17
Net (increase)/decrease in accounts receivables  (78) 4 (82) 62
Net increase in accounts payables  30 26 52 (3)
Net (increase)/decrease accounts receivables related companies  7 227 (22) 175
Net (increase)/decrease accounts payables related companies  (14) (339) 24 (208)
Income taxes paid   (165) (71) (168) (74)
Net cash from operating activities   675 638 777 817

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment  (8) (6) (8) (7)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment   5 5 5 5
Purchase of operating lease vehicles  (680) (658) (745) (723)
Proceeds from sale of operating lease vehicles  893 622 930 849
Purchase of intangible assets 15 (4) (13) (4) (13)
Investment in group undertakings 14 - (6) - -
Net cash used in investing activities   206 (56) 178 111

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowed funds and debt securities  5,041 11,198 5,079 10,967
Repayments of borrowed funds and debt securities  (4,715) (10,915) (4,662) (10,917)
Proceeds provided by parent and related undertakings  1,456 3,530 1,407 3,530
Repayment of funds provided by parent and related undertakings  (2,418) (4,123) (2,418) (4,123)
Net increase in short term borrowings   (637) (257) (638) (242)
Capital contribution from parent undertaking 30 28 - 28 -
Net cash used in financing activities   (1,245) (567) (1,204) (785)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   3 - 10 (20)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (361) 15 (239) 123
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  852 840 1,153 1,040

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 40 491 855 914 1,163

Included in the above for the Company and Group respectively is interest received of £25 million (2004: £38 million) and £29 million 
(2004: £58 million) and interest payable of £630 million (2004: £695 million) and £716 million (2004: £758 million)



28

Accounting policies

Index to accounting policies

For the purpose of this report, the term ‘Company’ includes FCE Bank plc 
(FCE) and its European branches. The term ‘Group’ includes the 
Company and subsidiaries (including Special Purpose Entities) of FCE.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are set out below.
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E Other operating income 32
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A Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRIC interpretations 
and with those parts of the Companies Act, 1985 applicable to companies 
reporting under IFRS. Previously FCE followed UK accounting standards 
issued by the UK Accounting Standards Board and the pronouncements 
of its Urgent Issues Task Force, relevant Statements of Recommended 
Practice and the Companies Act 1985 (collectively, UK GAAP).

The date of transition to IFRS was 1 January 2004. The 2004 prior year 
financial results under IFRS are therefore different from the Company and 
Group’s previously reported 2004 results under UK GAAP as the prior 
year results have been restated for comparative purposes. The change in 
accounting standards has no impact on the underlying economics of the 
business.

The standards applied are those issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board and endorsed by the European Union as at 31 December 
2005. The consolidated financial statements are prepared under historical 
cost conventions with the exception of derivative contracts and share 
based payments which are stated at fair value.

FCE has used the provisions of IFRS 1 ‘First-time adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards’ in arriving at appropriate opening balances 
for the following:

(i) Goodwill
FCE has not applied IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ retrospectively to 
business combinations prior to the date of transition. The goodwill as 
reported in the UK GAAP balance sheet as at 31 December 2003 has 
accordingly been brought forward without adjustment.

(ii) Property and equipment 
FCE has adopted the carrying values of all items of property, plant and 
equipment on the date of transition under UK GAAP as their deemed 
cost, rather than reverting to historical cost or carrying out a valuation 
at the date of transition as permitted by IFRS 1.

(iii) Cumulative foreign currency difference
FCE has brought forward a nil opening balance on cumulative foreign 
currency translation adjustment arising from the re-translation of 
foreign operations, which is shown as a separate item in shareholders 
equity at the date of transition in Note 30 ‘Retained earnings and other 
reserves’.

Hedging 
FCE has not used the exemption available to apply IFRS hedge accounting 
prospectively as at 1 January 2005 and has adopted International Accounting 
Standard (IAS) 32 ‘Financial instruments, disclosure and presentation’ and 
IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments, recognition and measurement’. This results 
in the creation of an initial cash flow hedging reserve as at 31 December 2003 
and the recognition of fair value movements on items subject to fair value 
hedge accounting. Therefore current and comparative information in 
these financial statements are fully compliant with IAS 32 and IAS 39. 

Employee Benefits 
FCE has elected to apply the amended version of IAS 19 ‘Employee 
Benefits’ from 1 January 2004.

Cash flow statement 
FCE has elected to produce an indirect Cash flow statement and as such 
will show cash flow from operating activities by adjusting profit or loss 
for non cash items and changes in operating assets and liabilities.
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B Group accounts

(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries, which are those companies and other entities (including 
Special Purpose Entities) in which FCE directly or indirectly has power 
to govern the financial and operating polices are consolidated.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group, and are no longer consolidated from the date 
that control ceases. The purchase method of accounting is used to 
account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of acquisition is 
measured at the fair value of the assets given up, shares issued or 
liabilities incurred at the date of acquisition, plus costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value 
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired is recorded as goodwill. See 
note M for the accounting policy on goodwill. Inter-company transactions, 
balances and unrealised gains on transactions between companies within 
the group are eliminated.

The consolidated income statement and balance sheet include the 
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings 
drawn up to the end of the financial year. The Company's interest in 
Group undertakings is stated at cost less any provisions for impairment.

For commercial reasons, the accounting reference dates of Jaguar 
Financial Services Limited (31 March), Automotive Finance Limited 
(30 June), Meritpoint Limited (30 June), and Ford Automotive Leasing 
Limited (30 September) are not coterminous with that of FCE. Accordingly 
the results of those companies are based on the management accounts 
for the year ended 31 December 2005.

(ii) Branches
In addition to operating in the UK the Company operates on a branch 
network in 15 other European countries and the branches are included 
within the Company’s financial statements.

(iii) Foreign currency translation
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Sterling. Assets 
and liabilities of each entity of the Group which are denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated into Sterling at the exchange rates 
ruling at the balance sheet date.

Income statements and cash flows of overseas branches and subsidiaries 
are translated into the Group's reporting currency at average-period 
exchange rates.

Exchange differences arising from the application of year end rates of 
exchange to opening net assets of foreign branches and subsidiaries are 
taken to shareholder’s equity, as are those differences resulting from the 
restatement of the results of foreign operations from average to year 
end rates of exchange. As permitted by IFRS 1 ‘First-time adoption of 
International Financial Reporting’, FCE has brought forward a nil opening 
balance on cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment arising 
from the re-translation of foreign operations, which is shown as a separate 
item in shareholders equity at the date of transition in Note 30 ‘Retained 
earnings and other reserves’.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of 
foreign entities, prior to the date of transition to IFRS, are treated as 
assets and liabilities of FCE and reported using the exchange rate 
applied under previous GAAP.
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C Net interest income

Interest income and expense is recognised in the income statement 
using the effective interest method. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial asset or liability and of allocating the interest income 
or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts the expected future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life. The application of the method has 
the effect of recognising income and expense evenly in proportion to 
the amount outstanding over the period to maturity or repayment.

Certain loan origination fees (income) and costs (expenses) which 
can be directly associated to the origination of loans and advances to 
customers are regarded as part of the economic return on the loan and 
included in the loan's carrying value and deferred. The amount deferred 
is recognised in interest income, using the effective interest method, 
over the term of the related receivable.

Interest supplements and other support payments from related 
parties (including Ford and affiliated manufacturers) provided for 
certain financing transactions is recognised on the same basis as the 
related financing transaction.

D Fees and commissions income/payable

Fees and commission income is recognised on an accrual basis and 
includes the following:

Insurance commission 
FCE offers branded insurance products in partnership with local 
insurance providers through dealerships in many European markets. 
FCE is not subject to insurance risks on policies sold.

Operating lease vehicle marketing and sales income
In many European markets vehicles provided under operating leases 
are owned by business partners to whom the Company has outsourced 
certain functions whilst retaining responsibility for marketing and sales 
for which fee income is received.

Fees and commissions payable include commissions and other 
bonuses payable to dealers. Dealer commission which can be directly 
associated with the origination of financed receivables is regarded as 
part of the economic return of the loan and are deferred. The amount 
deferred is recognised as a reduction to interest income using the effective 
interest rate method over the term of the related receivable. Other bonus 
payments are recognised in the income statement as they are incurred.

Accounting policies
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E Other operating income

Other operating income reflects the interest portion of rentals receivable 
for vehicles provided under operating leases. Rental income on operating 
leases is credited to income on a straight-line basis.

Certain loan origination fees (income) and costs (expenses) which 
can be directly associated to the origination of operating leases are 
regarded as part of the economic return on the loan and are offset and 
deferred. The amount deferred is recognised in other operating income 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the related receivable.

F Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise of balances held with less than 90 days maturity including: 
treasury bills and other eligible bills, amounts due from other banks and 
petty cash. 

G Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Transactions are undertaken in derivative financial instruments, ‘derivatives’, 
which include interest rate and cross-currency swaps and forward 
exchange contracts. All derivatives entered into by the Group are entered 
into for the purpose of matching or minimising risk from potential 
movements in foreign exchange rates and interest rates inherent in the 
Group’s financial assets and liabilities.

Interest rate swaps are used to manage the effects of interest rate 
fluctuations. Foreign currency exchange agreements, including forward 
contracts and swaps, are used to manage foreign exchange exposure.

Risk is reduced as follows:
(i) through the use of funding instruments that have interest and 

maturity profiles similar to the assets they are funding, and

(ii) through the use of interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives.

Derivatives
Derivatives are measured at fair value. The fair values of derivatives are 
calculated using quoted market rates and discounted cash flow models. 
All derivatives are included in assets when the fair value is positive and 
liabilities when the fair value is negative, unless there is the legal ability 
and intention to settle net.

When a derivative contract is entered into, the Group may designate 
certain derivatives as a hedge of the fair value of a recognised asset or 
liability (‘fair value’ hedge) or of the variability of cash flows to be received 
or paid related to a recognised asset or liability (‘cash flow’ hedge). FCE 
applies the settlement date of accounting for the purchase or sale of a 
financial asset.

The fair values of derivative instruments are disclosed in Note 11 
‘Derivative financial instruments’.

Hedge accounting
Hedge accounting is elected for derivatives only when the following 
criteria are met:

a) formal documentation of the hedging instrument, hedged item, 
hedge objective, strategy and relationship is prepared at or before 
inception of the hedge transaction.

b) the hedge is documented showing that it is expected to be highly 
effective in offsetting the risk in the hedged item throughout the 
reporting period.

c) the hedge is highly effective on an ongoing basis, as measured by 
re-performance of effectiveness testing at each reporting date

All forms of hedge accounting result in hedging derivatives being 
carried at fair value in the balance sheet.

Fair value hedge accounting
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that qualify and are designated 
as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together 
with changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are 
attributable to the hedged risk.
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If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting e.g. 
a) when the terms of an underlying transaction are modified, or b) when 
the underlying hedged item is settled prior to maturity, the carrying 
amount of a hedged interest-bearing financial instrument is amortised 
using the effective interest rate method to the income statement over 
the period to maturity of the instrument. All such changes are included 
in the income statement under the caption ‘Fair value adjustments to 
derivative financial instruments’.

Cash flow hedge accounting
To the extent that the hedge is effective changes in the value of a 
derivative that is designated as a cash flow hedge are recognised in the 
hedge reserve in shareholders’ equity. Amounts deferred in equity are 
transferred to the income statement and classified as revenue or expense 
in the periods during which the hedged transaction affects the income 
statement. If a cash flow hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity is recognised in 
the income statement in the periods during which the hedged transaction 
affects the income statement. All such changes are included in the income 
statement under the caption ‘Fair value adjustments to derivative 
financial instruments’

Derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting
Certain derivative transactions (referred to as non-designated in Note 11), 
while providing effective economic hedges under the Group’s risk 
management policies either do not qualify for hedge accounting under 
the specific rules in IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments, recognition and 
measurement’ or we elect not to apply hedge accounting. These derivatives 
are held at fair value and fair value gains and losses are reported in the 
income statement. All such changes are included in the income state-
ment under the caption ‘Fair value adjustments to derivative financial 
instruments'. Regardless of hedge accounting treatment, we only enter 
into transactions with a high correlation with the underlying risk.

H Loans and advances to customers 

Loans and advances to customers including finance lease receivables 
are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market and which are not classified as 
available for sale. Loans and advances to customers are initially 
recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction 
costs. They are subsequently valued at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method – refer to Accounting Policy C ‘Net interest 
income’.

The major types of loans and advances are as follows:

Retail financing
Purchasing retail finance and lease contracts from dealers, and offering 
finance to commercial customers, primarily vehicle leasing companies 
and fleet purchasers, to lease or purchase vehicle fleets (includes 
operating lease vehicles included within Property, plant and equipment),

Wholesale financing
Making loans to dealers to finance the purchase of new and used 
vehicles held in inventory,

Other financing
Making loans to dealers for working capital and property acquisitions.

Accounting policies
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I Allowance for impairment losses 

An allowance for impairment losses is established when the Group 
considers the credit-worthiness of an individual borrower or lessee has 
deteriorated such that the recovery of the whole or part of an outstanding 
advance or group of loan assets is in doubt. The allowance takes into 
consideration the financial condition of the borrower or lessee, the value 
of the collateral, recourse to guarantors and other factors. Loan assets 
with similar credit characteristics are grouped together and evaluated 
for impairment on a collective basis. Collateral held for resale, included 
in ‘Other Assets’, is carried at its estimated fair value at the date of the 
repossession net of estimated disposal costs. Recoveries previously 
charged off as uncollectible are written back to allowance for impairment 
losses on loans and advances to customers.

An allowance for impairment losses is made against loans and 
advances and operating lease assets to cover bad and doubtful debts 
which have been incurred and not separately identified, but which are 
known from experience to be present in portfolios of loans and advances 
and operating leases. The allowance is determined based on a number 
of factors including historical loss trends, the credit quality of the present 
portfolio and general economic factors. Allowances for impairment 
losses relating to operating lease assets are presented as an adjustment 
to accumulated depreciation.

Allowances for impairment losses which are made during the year, 
less amounts released and recoveries of bad debts previously written off 
are deducted from loans and advances to customers and Property and 
equipment and included in the income statement under the caption 
‘Impairment losses on loans and advances’ and ‚Depreciation of operating 
lease vehicles’ respectively. Impaired loans are written off against the 
balance sheet assets and provision when there is no realistic prospect 
of recovery. 

J Vehicle residual value provisions

Residual values represent the estimated value of the vehicle at the end 
of the retail or leasing financing plan. Residual values are calculated after 
analysing published residual values and FCE’s own historical experience 
in the used vehicle market.

Residual value provisions and accumulated depreciation on vehicles 
subject to operating leases are based on assumptions as to the used car 
prices at the end of the financing plan and the number of vehicles that 
will be returned. Vehicle residual value provisions are reviewed regularly 
and are accounted for as an adjustment to the carrying value of the 
assets. The amount of any impairment to residual values is accounted 
for as supplemental depreciation for operating leases and as a deduction 
from ‘Loans and advances to customers’ for retail and finance lease 
contracts. These assumptions and the related reserves may change 
based on market conditions – refer to Accounting policy U ‘Critical 
accounting estimates’.

Changes to residual value provisions for retail and finance lease 
contracts are included in the income statement under the caption 
‘Interest income’ and for operating leases within ‘Depreciation of 
operating lease vehicles’.

K Sales of receivables and related financing

FCE has entered into financing arrangements with lenders in order to 
finance loans and advances to customers. Such receivables have typically 
been sold for legal purposes to consolidated Special Purpose Entities 
(SPE’s). For all such securitisation transactions as FCE is not fully isolated 
from the risks and benefits, the requirements of IAS 39 ‘Financial 
instruments, recognition and measurement’ have been followed which 
requires the SPE to be consolidated under the consolidation principles of 
IAS 27 ‘Consolidated financial statements and accounting for investments 
in subsidiaries’. All receivables subject to such arrangements continue 
to be reported on the balance sheet and a liability is recognised for the 
proceeds of the funding transaction. Previously under UK GAAP such 
transactions had typically been accounted on the basis of linked 
presentation. 

L Investments in group undertakings

The Company’s interest in group undertakings are stated at cost less 
any provisions for impairment.
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M Goodwill and other intangible assets

(i) Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over 
the fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets of the acquired 
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of 
subsidiaries occurring on or after 1 January 1995 is reported in the 
balance sheet as an intangible asset and was amortised using the 
straight-line method over its estimated useful life, until 1 January 2004 
when amortisation of goodwill ceased. Goodwill on acquisitions of 
subsidiaries that occurred prior to 1 January 1995 was charged in full 
to retained profits in shareholder’s equity; such goodwill has not been 
retrospectively capitalised and amortised.

As permitted by IFRS 1 ‘First-time adoption of International Financial 
Reporting’ FCE has not applied IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ retro-
spectively to business combinations prior to the date of transition. The 
goodwill as reported in the UK GAAP balance sheet as at 31 December 
2003 has accordingly been brought forward without adjustment.

At each balance sheet date Goodwill is tested for impairment and carried 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to 
cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing.

(ii) Other intangible assets relate to computer software development costs. 
Such costs typically are expensed as incurred. Costs that are directly 
associated with identifiable and unique software products controlled by 
the Group and which are anticipated to generate economic benefits 
exceeding costs are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include 
staff costs of the software development team. A minimum capitalisation 
limit applies to internally developed software projects.

Expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of computer 
software programmes beyond their original specifications is recognised 
as capital improvements and added to the original costs of the software. 
Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised 
using a straight line method over their useful lives of three or eight years 
for PC/network and mainframe applications respectively. Other intangible 
assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impair-
ment charges. Impairment is tested at each reporting date. The amortisation 
of intangible assets is recorded within the income statement within other 
operating expenses.

N Property and equipment

All property and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line method to 
write down the cost of such assets to their residual values at the 
following rates:

Asset Type Annual Depreciation Rate

Computer Equipment  16.67%

Other office equipment   8.00%

Company motor vehicles   25.00%

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable 
amount. Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are 
determined by reference to their carrying amount and are included in 
‘Other operating expense’ in the income statement.

Operating lease assets over which the group has entered into Operating 
Lease agreements as the lessor are included in Property and equipment. 
Depreciation is charged on Operating Lease assets over the period of 
the lease to its estimated residual value on a straight line basis. 

The depreciation policy for leased vehicles (including vehicles subject 
to operating leases) is reviewed on a regular basis taking into consideration 
various assumptions, such as expected residual values at lease 
termination (including residual value support payments from manufacturers) 
and the estimated number of vehicles that will be returned. Adjustments 
to reflect revised estimates of expected residual values at the end of the 
lease terms are recorded on a straight-line basis. Upon return of the 
vehicle, depreciation expense is adjusted for the difference between net 
book value and expected resale value and the vehicle is transferred to 
‘Other assets’.
 

Accounting policies
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O Leases

(i) Where FCE is the lessor:
Finance leases – Assets purchased by customers under conditional sale 
agreements and leased under finance leases are included in ‘Loans and 
advances to customer’ at the gross amount receivable, less unearned 
finance charges. Income is recognised in the income statement using 
the effective interest rate method as described in accounting policy C.

Operating leases – Assets leased to customers under operating leases 
are included in ‘Property and equipment’. Income recognised in the 
income statement is described in accounting policy E.

(ii) Where FCE is the lessee:
To date, the leases entered into by FCE are all operating leases. Operating 
lease rental expense is charged to the income statement within ‘Other 
operating expense’ on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has 
expired, any payments required to be made to the lessor by way of 
penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination 
takes place.

 
P Other assets

The carrying value of ‘Other assets’ is stated at cost less any provision 
for impairment. Operating lease assets returned and awaiting resale are 
carried at net book value after adjusting for any residual value provisions. 
Operating lease assets returned and awaiting disposal are included in 
‘Other assets’ in the balance sheet. Gains and losses on disposal are 
included in depreciation expense.

Q Offsetting of a financial asset and a financial liability

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in 
the balance sheet if, and only if, there is a current enforceable legal right 
to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on 
a net basis. This is not generally the case and the related assets and 
liabilities are typically presented gross in the balance sheet.

R Debt securities in issue and other borrowed funds

Debt securities in issue and other borrowed funds are stated at fair 
value net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost and any differences between net proceeds and 
the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the life 
of the underlying debt. 

 

S Other liabilities and provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present and legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an 
outflow of resource embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the 
obligation can be made.

Provision is made for the anticipated cost of restructuring including 
employee separation costs, when an obligation exists. An obligation exists 
when FCE has a detailed formal plan for restructuring an operation and 
has raised valid expectations in those affected by the restructuring by 
starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features.

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence will be 
confirmed only by uncertain future events or present obligations where 
the transfer of economic benefit is not probable or cannot be reliably 
measured. Contingent liabilities are not recognised but are disclosed 
unless they are remote.
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T Deferred and current income taxes

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax is 
recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in 
equity.

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been 
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilised.

Income tax payable on profits is based on the applicable tax law in 
each company’s jurisdiction and is calculated at rates of tax enacted at 
the balance sheet date. Income tax payable is recognised as an expense 
in the period in which the profits arise. The tax effects of income tax 
losses available for carry forward are recognised as an asset when it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available which these losses 
can be utilised against.

U Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with general 
accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are 
based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, 
actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates.

 
An accounting estimate is considered to be critical if: 

• The accounting estimate requires assumptions to be made about 
matters that were uncertain at the time the accounting estimate was 
made, and

• Changes in the estimate are reasonably likely to occur from period to 
period, or use of different estimates that reasonably could have been 
used in the current period, and

• The accounting estimate could have a material impact on the 
financial condition or results.

The accounting estimates that are most important to FCE’s business 
involve:

• Allowances for impairment losses on loans and advances and 
operating lease assets (refer to Note 12 ‘Loans and advances to 
customers’), 

• Vehicle residual value provisions and accumulated depreciation on 
vehicles subject to operating leases (refer to Note 28 ‘Vehicle residual 
values’).

Accounting policies
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V Segmental reporting

Business segments are distinguishable components of the Group that 
provides products or services that are subject to risks and rewards that 
are different to those of other business segments. Geographical segments 
provide products or services within a particular economic environment 
that is subject to different risks and rewards that are different to those of 
components operating in other economic environments.

Primary reporting segments: For the purposes of these financial 
statements and in accordance with IAS 14 ‘Segment reporting’ FCE has 
primary reporting segments based around the group’s business unit 
structure representing the various geographic locations of its operations. 
These primary segments comprise:

• United Kingdom (including the Worldwide Trade Financing division, 
central staffs and funding of FCE branches and subsidiaries)

• Germany
• Italy
• Spain
• France
• Other Euro currency locations (consisting of Austria, Belgium, 

Finland, Greece, Ireland, Netherlands and Portugal)
• Other locations (consisting of the Czech Republic, Denmark, 

Hungary, Norway, Poland, Sweden and Switzerland).

In accordance with IAS 14 all segments representing 10% or more of 
the total group revenue, total group assets or total group turnover are to 
be reported as individual geographical segments. 

Secondary reporting segments: FCE has three secondary reportable 
segments based on the Group’s range of products and services. These 
secondary segments comprise:

• Financial Services
• Operating lease business
• Insurance Commissions

Allocation of costs: The main costs which are required to be allocated 
between segments and the basis of allocation are as follows:

• Central staff costs incurred are analysed by department and type of 
cost and allocated to the location benefiting from the service. Various, 
mostly direct, allocation methods are used that ensure an equitable 
allocation between locations of central staff costs.

• Central funding. In certain of FCE’s European branches and 
subsidiaries funding is obtained by a mixture of local and centrally 
allocated funding. The costs of central funding, including derivative 
costs are where possible directly allocated to locations where trans-
actions can be specifically identified. Operational efficiencies are also 
obtained by pooling certain funding and the related financing costs 
are allocated across locations to ensure an appropriate allotment of 
funding costs

Income and costs on allocation of intra and inter-company transactions 
are eliminated on consolidation. 
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W Employee benefits

(i) Retirement benefit obligations
Most of FCE’s branches and subsidiaries operate defined benefit schemes.

In some locations FCE participates in pension schemes that share the 
risks between related parties, and there is no contractual agreement for 
charging the net defined benefit costs. In such cases FCE recognises a 
cost equal to contributions payable for the period only and discloses 
such schemes as ‘Accounted for as defined contribution’. The funds are 
valued at least every three years by a professionally qualified independent 
actuary (the principal UK fund is valued every two years) and the actuary 
provides advice on the future rates of contributions payable into the 
schemes.

For defined contribution plans, the company pays contributions to 
publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, 
contractual or voluntary basis. Once the contributions have been paid, 
FCE has no further payment obligations. The regular contributions 
constitute net periodic costs for the years in which they are due.

FCE Spain operates a defined benefit plan for management employees 
and recognises the net liability or asset in the balance sheet. Actuarial 
gains and losses are recognised in profit and loss as they occur, together 
with contributions payable for the period.

For all the above costs are included within ‘Other operating expenses’.

(ii) Share-based payments
Share options which can be exercised over its ultimate parent company, 
Ford Motor Company (US) Common Stock, are granted to directors and 
to employees of FCE. The options vest and may be exercised in instalments 
as follows:

a) One year from the date of the agreement 33% of the shares may be 
exercised

b) Two years from the date of the agreement an additional 33% of the 
shares granted may be exercised

c) Three years from the date of the agreement an additional 34% of the 
shares granted may be exercised

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the 
grant of the options is recognised as an expense and a corresponding 
increase in ‘Other’ reserves, which is part of shareholder’s equity, over 
the vesting period.

The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined 
by reference to the fair value of the options granted, excluding any non-
market vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are taken into 
account so that the amount expensed is based on the number of share 
options that eventually vest.

Costs of providing the share options are charged to FCE by the parent 
company in the year granted and are recognised in ‘Other reserves’ over 
the vesting period.

Accounting policies



40

Notes to the financial statements

Index to the notes to the consolidated financial statements

Description Page

1 Segmental reporting 41
2 Net interest income 44
3 Net fee and commission income 44
4 Dividend income 44
5 Other operating income 45
6 Other operating expenses 45
7 Fair value adjustment to derivative financial instruments 47
8 Profit from operations before tax 47
9 Income tax expenses 49
10 Cash and advances to other banks 50
11 Derivative financial instruments 50
12 Loans and advances to customers 53
13 Sales of receivables and related financing 54
14 Investments in group undertakings 58
15 Goodwill and other intangible assets 59
16 Property & equipment 60
17 Deferred tax liabilities 61
18 Other assets 62
19 Due to other banks 62
20 Due to parent and related undertakings 63
21 Debt securities in issue 63
22 Other borrowed funds 64
23 Other liabilities 65
24 Retirement benefit obligations 65
25 Contingent liabilities 70
26 Commitments 70
27 Future lease commitments 70
28 Vehicle residual values 71
29 Ordinary shares and Share premium 71
30 Retained earnings and other reserves 72
31 Dividend per share 73
32 Related party transactions 73
33 Acquisitions and disposals 76
34 Post balance sheet events 76
35 Share based payments 77
36 Currency risk 78
37 Interest rate risk 79
38 Liquidity risk 83
39 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 85
40 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement 86
41 Reconciliations UK GAAP to IFRS 86
42 Other information 94



41FCE Bank plc – ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS – 2005

1 Segmental reporting

The Group is organised primarily on a geographic basis through its branches and subsidiaries. Transactions between geographic locations are on 
normal commercial terms and conditions.

Internal charges have been reflected in the performance of each location.

Geographical Segments

Company UK Germany Italy Spain France

 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Interest income £700 £772 £293 £341 £115 £115 £106 £95 £50 £48

Fees and commissions 15 14 22 17 6 4 2 1 7 5

Other operating income 9 - 107 97 1 4 - 15 59 72

Total revenue 724 786 422 455 122 123 108 111 116 125

Profit before tax £125 £100 £110 £81 £22 £34 £24 £28 £19 £14

Segment assets 12,968 15,073 4,400 5,144 1,868 1,798 1,877 1,656 1,174 1,063

Segment liabilities 11,602 13,799 4,039 4,864 1,759 1,694 1,761 1,552 1,111 1,013

Company Other Euro  Other  Eliminations  Total Company

 Currency locations locations

 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004   2005 2004

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil   £ mil £ mil

Interest income £101 £95 £59 £60 £(295) £(335)   £1,129 £1,191

Fees and commissions 6 10 4 4 - -   62 55

Other operating income 42 49 1 1 - 4   219 242 

Total revenue 149 154 64 65 (295) (331)   1,410 1,488

Profit before tax £31 £29 £15 £14 - -   £346 £300

Segment assets 1,855 1,905 1,028 1,080 (7,698) (8,999)   17,472 18,720

Segment liabilities 1,760 1,822 934 997 (7,698) (8,999)   15,268 16,742

UK segmental data includes the following:
• Worldwide Trade Financing division
• Central funding and staff costs (refer to Accounting Policy V for further information)

Other Euro Currency locations relate to Austria, Belgium, Finland, Greece, Ireland, Netherlands and Portugal.
Other locations relate to the Czech Republic, Denmark, Hungary, Norway, Poland, Sweden and Switzerland.
Elimination column is required to remove income and costs of intra and inter-company transactions which are eliminated on consolidation. 
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Group UK Germany Italy Spain France

 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Interest income £705 £770 £293 £344 £116 £116 £108 £95 £50 £48

Fees and commissions 13 19 22 17 7 5 2 1 7 5

Dividend income - - - - - - - - - -

Other operating income 13 18 107 97 - 4 - 15 59 72

Total revenue 731 807 422 458 123 125 110 111 116 125

Profit before tax £123 £121 £111 £81 £21 £30 £27 £28 £19 £14

Segment assets 13,312 14,523 4,491 5,243 1,886 1,812 2,028 1,692 1,246 1,157

Segment liabilities 12,090 13,419 4,131 4,963 1,774 1,705 1,912 1,587 1,183 1,107

Group Other Euro  Other  Eliminations  Total Company

 Currency locations locations

 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004   2005 2004

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil   £ mil £ mil

Interest income £137 £108 £76 £79 £(342) £(348)   £1,143 £1,212

Fees and commissions 7 11 6 6 - -   64 64

Dividend income - - 1 - - -   1 -

Other operating income 52 64 24 22 - 4   255 296

Total revenue 196 183 107 107 (342) (344)   1,463 1,572

Profit before tax £30 £31 £25 £24 - -   £356 £329

Segment assets 3,094 3,128 1,232 1,289 (9,788) (10,205)   17,501 18,639

Segment liabilities 2,976 3,025 1,105 1,182 (9,788) (10,205)   15,383 16,783

UK segmental data includes the following:
• Worldwide Trade Financing division
• Central funding and staff costs (refer to Accounting Policy V for further information)

Other Euro Currency locations relate to Austria, Belgium, Finland, Greece, Ireland, Netherlands and Portugal.
Other locations relate to the Czech Republic, Denmark, Hungary, Norway, Poland, Sweden and Switzerland.
Elimination column is required to remove income and costs of intra and inter-company transactions which are eliminated on consolidation. 

1 Segmental reporting (continued)

Geographical Segments
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Notes to the financial statements

Company Financial Services Operating lease  Insurance  Total

  business Commission

 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Interest income £1,129 £1,191 £- £- £- £- £1,129 £1,191

Fees and commissions 21 22 4 1 37 32 62 55

Other operating income - - 219 242 - - 219 242

Total revenue 1,150 1,213 223 243 37 32 1,410 1,488

        

Profit before tax £275 £234 £38 £38 £33 £28 £346 £300

Segment assets 17,122 17,984 350 736 - - 17,472 18,720

Segment liabilities 15,244 16,714 24 28 - - 15,268 16,742

Group Financial Services Operating lease  Insurance  Total

  business Commission

 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Interest income £1,143 £1,212 £- £- £- £- £1,143 £1,212

Fees and commissions 21 27 5 4 38 33 64 64

Dividend Income 1 - - - - - 1 -

Other operating income - - 255 296 - - 255 296

Total revenue 1,165 1,239 260 300 38 33 1,463 1,572

Profit before tax £283 £249 £39 £51 £34 £29 £356 £329

Segment assets 17,071 17,814 430 825 - - 17,501 18,639

Segment liabilities 15,352 16,725 31 58 - - 15,383 16,783

The major business segments are as follows:

Financial services – FCE offers a wide variety of financing products to and 
through automotive dealers. The major financing products are as follows:
• Retail financing – purchasing retail finance and lease contracts from 

dealers, and offering finance to commercial customers to purchase 
vehicles,

• Wholesale financing – making loans to dealers to finance the 
purchase of new and used vehicles held in inventory,

• Other financing – making loans to dealers for working capital and 
property acquisitions.

Business Segments

Operating lease business – financing of operating lease vehicles where 
FCE is the lessor. In many European markets operating leases are 
provided by business partners to whom the Company has outsourced 
certain functions whilst retaining responsibility for marketing and sales 
for which fee income is received.

Insurance commission – FCE offers branded insurance products in 
partnership with local insurance providers through dealerships in many 
European markets. FCE is not subject to insurance risks on policies sold.
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2 Net interest income
 Company  Group

  2005 2004  2005 2004

Interest income  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Loans and advances to customers  £823 £754  £827 £766

Interest income related parties   290 394  301 409

Cash and short term deposits income  15 37  15 37

Interest income FCE subsidiaries  1 6   - -

  1,129 1,191  1,143 1,212

Interest expense

Interest expense external parties  (368) (369)  (372) (373)

Interest expense related parties  (258) (294)  (258) (294)

Interest expense FCE subsidiaries  - (2)  - -

  (626) (665)  (630) (667)

Net interest income  £503 £526  £513 £545

3 Net fee and commission income
 Company  Group

  2005 2004  2005 2004

Fee and commission income  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Finance related and other fee income  £25 £23  £26 £31

Insurance sales commission income  37 32  38 33

   62 55  64 64

Fee and commission expense

Finance related and other fees expense  (4) (3)  (3) (4)

Commission and incentives paid expense  (3) (1)  (3) (1)

  (7) (4)  (6)  (5)

Net fee and commission income  £55 £ 51  £58 £59

4 Divided income
 Company  Group

  2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Dividend received from related parties  £- £-  £1 £-

Dividend income  £- £-  £1 £-

Dividend received of Polish Zloty (PZL) 3.7 million by FCE Credit Poland S.A. from a related party, Ford Polska Sp. Zoo.
FCE Credit Poland S.A. has a beneficial interest of approximately 4% in Ford Polska Sp. Zoo. 
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Notes to the financial statements

5 Other operating income
 Company  Group

  2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Income from operating leases  £215 £221  £251 £275

Gain on sale of operating lease portfolios 

(Note 33)   4 21  4 21

Other operating income  £219 £242  £255 £296

For further details in regard to the sale of FCE’s portfolio of commercial operating lease vehicles refer 
to Note 33 ‘Acquisitions and disposals’.

6 Other operating expenses
 Company  Group

  2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Staff costs:

Wages and salaries *  £122 £119  £125 £121

Social security  14 15  14 15

Retirement benefits (Note 24) *  18 14  19 14

Total staff costs*  154 148  158 150

      

Software amortisation (Note 15)  4 2  5 2

Other expenses:

Administrative expenses  66 74  71 80

Operating lease rental expense  12 12  12 13

Other expenses  3 2  3 2

(Gain) on foreign exchange  (1) -  (1) -

  80 88  85 95

     

Other operating expenses  £238 £238  £248 £247

 

          Number of persons

Average monthly number 

of permanent employees  2,873 2,975  2,951 3,054

* Included in both the Company and Group wages and salaries and pension costs is £9 million 
(2004: nil) relating to employee separation costs.

Included with ‘Administrative expenses’ are services paid to Ford and its related companies which 
are detailed within Note 32 ‘Related party transactions’.



46

6 Other operating expenses (continued)

Directors anmd officers

The volumes of related-party transactions, outstanding balances at the 
year end, and relating income and expense for the year are as follows:

 Directors and Officers

 2005 2004

 £’000 £’000

Loans

Loans outstanding at 1 January £354 327

Loans issued during the year 422 562

Loan repayments during the year (508) (535)

Loans outstanding at 31 December £268 £354

  

Revenue  

Interest revenue from loans 56 55

   

Compensation Payments  

Salaries and other short-term benefits 1,840 1,982

Post-employment benefits 437 525

Other long-term benefits - -

Share-based payments 186 132

Loans: A loan arrangement exists for certain directors and officers of the 
Group, whereby the director or officer purchases vehicles from Ford 
Motor Company Limited (FMCL), and FCE provides the individual with 
a loan to finance the purchase. The individual pays FCE only the interest 
on the loan. When the loans mature, the vehicles are returned to FMCL 
for resale, and FCE is repaid the loan value from the proceeds of sale. 
The loans reported include loans to connected persons.

Compensation payments: Aggregate emoluments for the highest paid 
director including dividends received under long term incentive schemes 
were £227,696 (2004: £283,475). Share option awards were received 
under a Long Term Incentive Scheme.

The highest paid director is a member of the Ford Motor Company (US) 
General Retirement Plan (GRP) and no company contributions for that 
individual was made during 2005. (2004: nil). However, each employee 
receives interest on their contributions on an annual basis. The accrued 
annual pension benefit for the highest paid director at 31 December 2005 
was £83,999 (2004: £77,302). Interest received on GRP past contributions 
in 2005 amounted to £1,870 (2004: £1,637). The pension plan does not 
allow for an accrued lump sum.

Post-employment benefits: Retirement benefits are accruing to seven 
current directors and seven officers (2004: eight directors and eight 
officers) under various Ford defined benefit schemes.

Share-based payments: During the financial year ended 31 December 2005 
no directors or officers who received remuneration from the Company in 
respect of their services to the Company, including the highest paid director, 
exercised options held over Ford Motor Company (US) Common Stock 
(2004: four). As the share options vested before 1 January 2005 they did 
not fall under the scope of IFRS 2 ‘Share based payments’ and therefore 
are excluded from Note 35 ‘Share based payments’. For more details 
about the various Ford Share Options Plans please refer to the annual 
report of Ford Motor Company (US). During 2005 the highest paid 
director received 1,150 shares under a Long Term incentive scheme.
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7 Fair value adjustment to derivative financial instruments

 Company  Group

Net gains/(losses) recognised in   2005 2004  2005 2004

the income statement – prior to tax  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Type of contract:

Forward foreign exchange  £1 £(1)  £1 £(1)

Interest rate (IR) swaps  11 2  15 -

Cross currency IR swaps  1 (2)  1 (2)

Income statement fair value gain/(loss)  13 (1)  17 (3)

Net gains/(losses) not recognised in 

the income statement

Cash flow hedges (IR swaps):

Fair value gains   7 8  7 7

Shareholders’ equity fair value gain/(loss)  £7 £8  £7 £7

8 Profits from operations before tax

Exceptional items   Company / Group

Profit from operations before tax is stated after crediting/(charging):  2005 2004

     £ mil £ mil

Operating income:

Adjustment to income recognition of German retail portfolio   £12 £-

Adjustment to value of derivatives     5 -

Gain on sale of operating lease/FSL portfolios (Note 33)     4 21

UK VAT rebate     - 16

Sub-total Operating income     £21 £37

Impairment losses on loans and advances:

Reduced emergence period for UK losses     8 -

Operating expenses:

Foreign tax reserve adjustments      £10 £-

Employee separation costs      (9) -

Sub-total Operating expenses     £1 £-

Depreciation on Tangible Fixed Assets:

Accumulated depreciation for operating lease vehicles    4 10

Total exceptional items     £34 £47

Exceptional items have resulted in increased 2005 Group profit from operations before tax of £34 million 
compared to the prior year of £47 million. Exceptional items are typically non-recurring events or 
transactions of which disclosure aids the interpretation of performance compared to the prior year. 
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Definition of nature of services:

• Audit fees – relating to the audit of the annual financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. 

• Tax fees – for compliance, tax advice and tax planning.

• Audit related fees – for services related to securitisation and related funding programmes and 
including work on the transition to International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Further explanatory information:

Included in tax fees and audit related fees is £296,000 (2004: £161,000) paid by FCE to the UK 
firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC).

Pre-approval policies and procedures

Ford’s audit committee has established pre-approval policies and procedures that govern the 
engagement of PwC and the services provided by PwC are pre-approved in accordance with Ford’s 
policies and procedures and also by the FCE Audit Committee. 

8 Profits from operations before tax (continued)

Audit and tax fees Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ 000’s £ 000’s  £ 000’s £ 000’s

Nature of services:

Audit fees  £727 £799  £954 £949

Audit related fees  296 154  296 154

Tax fees  221 270  245 301

Total fees  £1,244 £1,223  £1,495 £1,404
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9 Income tax expenses

The charge for taxation on the profit for the year is made up as follows:

 Company  Group

  2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Current tax:     

UK Corporation tax of 30% (2004: 30%)  £84 £52  £82 £62

Overseas taxation   67 98  72 101

Relief of overseas taxation  (57) (42)  (57) (58)

Prior year corporation tax  16 (15)  14 (24)

Income tax expense-current  110 93  111 81

Deferred tax:     

Prior year deferred tax movement  23 10  1 4

Overseas deferred taxation  7 (21)  - (22)

Income tax-deferred  30 (11)  1 (18)

As recorded in Income statement  £140 £82  £112 £63

The taxation charge for the period is higher (2004: lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax 
in the UK (30%). The factors affecting the tax charge for the period are explained below:

 Company  Group

  2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Profit on ordinary activities before tax:  £346 £300  £356 £329

Profit multiplied by standard rate of 

UK Corporation tax of 30% (2004: 30%)  103 90  107 99

Effects of: 

Foreign taxes higher/(lower) than UK tax rate 1 48  (1) 39

Additional UK tax on overseas branch profits 6 4  6 4

Prior Year Corporation tax:

- UK  16 (13)  14 (23)

- Overseas  - (2)  - (1)

Group relief  (16) (35)  (15) (38)

Prior year deferred tax:

- UK  23 10  1 4

- Overseas  7 (21)  - (22)

Expense not deductible for tax  - 1  - 1

Income tax expenses  £140 £82  £112 £63
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The following balances at the year end which are included in ‘Cash and advances to other banks’ are not 
available for use in the Group’s day to day operations:
• Legally isolated cash retained in consolidated securitisation Special Purpose Entities (SPE’s). For further 

information on SPE’s refer to Note 13 ‘Sales of receivables and related financing’.
• Central bank deposits represent balances with the Bank of England and other Central banks in Europe 

which the Group are required to maintain.

11 Derivative financial instruments

FCE maintains an active asset-liability management programme to maximise financing margins while 
limiting the impact of changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates.

The following table provides examples of certain activities undertaken, the related risks associated with 
such activities and the types of derivatives used in managing such risks.

The use of derivatives is an integral part of the Group’s risk management programme, providing reduced 
exposure to financial market volatility and substantial funding flexibility at an acceptable cost. Company 
policies and controls are in place, including hedge effectiveness testing at each reporting date, to manage 
these risks and are detailed on the following page.

10 Cash and advances to other banks

 Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Cash in bank (excluding SPE’s)  £186 £171  £204 £184

Cash in transit  198 2  198 2

Cash equivalents  159 807  159 807

Cash and cash equivalents   543 980  561 993

SPE other bank deposits  - -  240 175

SPE collateralised deposits  - -  172 129

Legally isolated cash retained in SPE’s  - -  412 304

Central bank deposits   69 57  69 57

Cash and advances to other banks   £612 £1,037  £1,042 £1,354

Activity
Investment and funding in foreign 
currencies

Investment in Floating and Fixed-Rate 
Assets

Risk 
Sensitivity to change in foreign 
exchange rates

Repricing characteristics of assets 
not matching repricing of liabilities

Type of hedge
• Cross-currency interest swaps
• Foreign exchange forward contracts
• Pay fixed rate and receive floating-

rate swaps
• Pay floating rate and receive floating 

rate swaps
• Pay floating rate and receive fixed 

rate swaps 
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The key derivative policies are:
a. Prohibit use for speculative purposes
b. Prohibit use of leveraged instruments
c. Requirement of regular in-depth exposure analysis
d. State accounting treatment at onset of trade
e. Establish exposure limits (including cash deposits) with counterparties
f. Compensation system not being tied to traders’ profits and losses

The key derivative controls are:
a. Reviews of policies, positions and planned actions with management
b. Transactional controls including segregation of duties, approval 

authorities, competitive quotes and confirmation procedures
c. Regular management review of portfolio mark to market valuations 

and potential future exposures
d. Monitoring of counter-party credit worthiness
e. Internal and external audits to evaluate controls and adherence to policies

Exposure to counter-party risk is managed by diversifying derivative activity 
amongst highly rated counterparties. The Group does transact with 
certain Ford related parties, which are non-rated entities. Substantially 
all of the Group’s activities are transacted with financial institutions. 
Wherever legally enforceable, the Group nets payments for derivative 
transactions. Counterparty offset is completed where there is a current 
enforceable legal right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis.

The following tables analyse the treasury activities by type of contract, 
giving the underlying principal amount and fair value obtained by 
marking to market contracts and offsetting positive and negative values 
by counterparty. The fair values reported below are included in both 
assets and liabilities sections of the balance sheet within the caption 
‘Derivative financial instruments’.

Company  2005    2004

 Notional                Fair Value   Notional                Fair Value

 Amount Assets Liabilities   Amount Assets Liabilities

 £ mil £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil £ mil

Designated as cash flow hedges

Interest rate (IR) contracts:       

Interest rate swaps £- £- £-  £580 £- £12

Total cash flow hedges - - -  580 - 12

Designated as fair value hedges

Interest rate (IR) contracts:

Interest rate swaps - - -  246 6 1

Cross currency IR swaps  11 - -  72 2 -

Total designated as fair value hedges 11 - -  318 8 1

Non-designated derivatives

Exchange contracts:

Forward foreign exchange 2,234 25 1  832 8 10

Interest rate (IR) contracts:

Interest rate swaps 8,348 12 53  6,726 5 72

Cross currency IR swaps  1,107 28 54  2,147 126  167

Total non designated  11,689 65 108  9,705 139 249

       

Total derivatives excluding offset 11,700 65 108  10,603 147 262

Counterparty offset - (28) (28)  - (76) (76)

Total derivatives including offset £11,700 £37 £80  £10,603 £71 £186

In some instances, in accordance with IAS 39, certain derivatives that were previously in qualified hedge relationships have been effectively reclassified as 
non-designated derivatives during the period. The derivatives continue to provide effective economic hedges under the Group’s risk management policies. 
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11 Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Group  2005    2004

 Notional                Fair Value   Notional                Fair Value

 Amount Assets Liabilities   Amount Assets Liabilities

 £ mil £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil £ mil

Designated as cash flow hedges

Interest rate (IR) contracts:       

Interest rate swaps £- £- £-  £580 £- £12

Total cash flow hedges - - -  580 - 12

Designated as fair value hedges

Interest rate (IR) contracts:

Interest rate swaps - - -  246 6 1

Cross currency IR swaps  11 - -  72 2 -

Total designated as fair value hedges 11 - -  318 8 1

Non-designated derivatives

Exchange contracts:

Forward foreign exchange 2,234 25 1  832 8 10

Interest rate (IR) contracts:

Interest rate swaps 9,232 12 50  8,312 10 79

Cross currency IR swaps  1,107 27 54  2,147 126  167

Total non designated derivatives 12,573 64 105  11,291 144 256

       

Total derivatives excluding offset 12,584 64 105  12,189 152 269

Counterparty offset - (25) (25)  - (83) (83)

Total derivatives including offset £12,584 £39 £80  £12,189 £69 £186

FCE has not used the exemption available to apply IFRS hedge accounting prospectively as at 1 January 2005 and 
has adopted IAS 32 ‘Financial instruments, disclosure and presentation’ and IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments, 
recognition and measurement’ effective from 1 January 2004. This results in the creation of an initial cash flow 
hedging reserve as at 31 December 2003 and the recognition of fair value movements on items subject to fair value 
hedge accounting. Therefore current and comparative information in these financial statements are compliant with 
IAS 32 and 39.
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12 Loans and advances to customers

 Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Gross loans and advances to customers  £15,930 £16,558  £16,337 £17,009

Provision for identified losses  (118) (150)  (119) (152)

Unearned finance income  (666) (803)  (819) (970)

Net loans and advances to customers  £15,146 £15,605  £15,399 £15,887

Allowance for impairment losses 

Balance at 1 January  150 127  152 134

Impairment losses charged to income statement  28 87  28 87

Deductions:

- Losses  (95) (116)  (103) (118)

- Recoveries   37 46  45 46

Net losses  (58) (70)  (58) (72)

Other:

- Exchange adjustments  (2) 5  (3) 3

- Integration of subsidiary into branch  - 1  - -

Balance at 31 December  118 150  119 152

Loans and advances to customers include the following finance lease receivables:

Gross finance lease receivables:

Not later than 1 year  1,408 1,277  1,412 1,277

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  463 668  464 668

Later than 5 years  58 19  59 19

Total gross finance lease receivables  1,929 1,964  1,935 1,964

     

Unearned future finance income on 

finance leases  (172) (188)  (172) (188)

Provision for identified losses on finance leases (17) (19)  (17) (19)

Net Investment In Finance Leases  1,740 1,757  1,746 1,757

Not later than 1 year  1,270 1,142  1,274 1,142

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  418 597  419 597

Later than 5 years  52 18  53 18

  £1,740 £1,757  £1,746 £1,757

Loans and advances to customers include the following:

Due from subsidiary undertakings  83 159  - -

Due from Ford related parties  204 235  207 236

For details of vehicle residual values included in loans and advances to customers refer to Note 28 ‘Vehicle residual values’.
The cost of assets acquired for letting under finance leases amounted to £926 million (2004: £921 million) for the Group 
and £920 million (2004: £921 million) for the Company.



54

13 Sales of receivables and related financing

Overview
FCE periodically sells retail and wholesale receivables in securitisation and 
other structured financing transactions. The securitisation process involves 
the sale of securities to investors, the payment of which is backed by a pool 
of receivables. The cash flows on the underlying receivables are used to pay 
principal and interest on the debt securities as well as transaction expense. 

Because of the similarity between securitisations and structured 
financings, we include structured financings and refer to them as 
securitisations elsewhere in this report. The amount of assets sold 
(net of unearned finance income) and the related funding (gross 
liabilities) are detailed below:

Sales of receivables and debt securities  Group

  2005  2004

Series  Finance  Transaction  Amount  Debt  Amount  Debt 

No. Provider Amount sold Securities sold Securities

 Amortising period  £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

C Globaldrive (UK) plc – UK  GBP 250 mil of UK conditional sale retail loans £- £- £84 £82

D Globaldrive (Germany) II Limited – Guernsey EUR €800 mil of German motor vehicle retail loans 109 123 291 322

E Globaldrive Series E B.V. – Netherlands  EUR €733 mil of Spanish & Italian retail and 

  TCM Loans 455  503 - -

2 Globaldrive (UK) Series 2 plc – UK GBP 200 mil of UK conditional sale retail loans 198 187 - -

3 Globaldrive Series 3 (Spain) EUR €500 mil of Spanish Trade Cycle 

  Management (TCM) Loans 298  297 - -

 Sub Total Amortising period 1,060 1,110 375 404

 

 Revolving period: 

 Fixed Funding:

E Globaldrive Series E B.V. – Netherlands  EUR €733 mil of Spanish & Italian retail and

  TCM Loans - - 497 517

2 Globaldrive (UK) Series 2 plc – UK GBP 200 mil of UK conditional sale retail loans - - 200 200

F Globaldrive (Germany) IV Limited – Guernsey EUR €350 mil of German motor vehicle retail loans  224   240 234 247

1 Globaldrive (Germany) III Limited – Guernsey EUR €300 mil of German motor vehicle retail loans  193 206 198 212

2004-1/2, Globaldrive Dealer Floorplan B.V. – Netherlands EUR €1,075 mil fixed & EUR €523 mil* variable 

2005-1  Spanish & French dealer floorplan receivables  996 826 796 544

 

 Variable funding:

2004 Banks via private transaction US$ 425 mil* of Worldwide Trade Financing (WTF) 

  dealer receivables  164 164 103 103

2005-1 Banks via private transaction EUR €1,000 mil* Italian dealer floorplan receivables 709 602 - -

 Sub-Total Revolving period  2,286 2,038 2,028 1,823

 Total   £3,346 £3,148 £2,403 £2,227

      

 Amounts relating to public transactions (note 21) 788 866 1,106 1,168

 Amounts relating to private transactions (note 19) 2,558 2,282 1,297 1,059

 Amounts relating to retail transactions   1,477 1,556 1,504 1,580

 Amounts relating to wholesale transactions  1,869 1,592 899 647

* Refers to maximum programme amount.
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Public transactions which are reported on the previous table relate to the 
asset-backed securities which are publicly traded and private transactions 
relate to sales directly to a single investor. The alphabetic series numbers 
included on the previous table indicates vehicle retail public offerings, 
the single digit numeric series numbers relates to private vehicle retail 
transactions. Wholesale series numbers are identified by a transaction 
number corresponding to the year of issue of the transaction, followed 
by a sequential number (except Worldwide Trade Financing division – 
refer to securitisation program section) indicating various issuances to 
private investors. 

Use of Special Purpose Entities
Securitisation typically involves the sale of a pool of receivables to a 
Special Purpose Entity (SPE) as detailed on the previous table under 
Finance provider. Globaldrive is a securitisation program established by 
FCE to efficiently securitise a broad range of international assets. The 
SPE’s issue interest-bearing securities, commonly called asset-backed 
securities that are backed by the sold receivables. The SPE uses proceeds 
from the sale of these securities to pay the purchase price for the sold 
receivables. The SPE has limited purposes and may only purchase the 
receivables, issue asset-backed securities and make payments on the 
securities. The SPE has a limited duration and generally is dissolved 
when investors holding the asset-backed securities have been paid all 
amounts owed to them. The sale to the SPE achieves isolation of the 
sold receivables for the benefit of securitisation investors and protects 
them from the claims of FCE’s creditors. The use of SPE’s combined 
with the structure of these transactions means that the payment of the 
asset-backed securities is based on the creditworthiness of the underlying 
finance receivables and any enhancements (as discussed in the facing 
column), and not FCE’s creditworthiness.

None of FCE’s officers, directors or employees holds any equity 
interests in its SPE’s or receives any direct or indirect compensation 
from the SPE’s. These SPE’s do not own FCE’s stock or stock of any 
of Ford’s related parties.

Typical securitisation structure
Receivables are selected randomly for securitisation transactions using 
selection criteria designed for each specific transaction. The selection 
criteria are based on factors such as location of the obligor, contract 
term, payment status and concentration risk. FCE provides various forms 
of credit and payment enhancements to reduce the risk of loss for senior 
classes of securities and enhance the likelihood of the timely payment of 
interest and the payment of principal at maturity. These enhancements 
include over-collateralisation (when the principal balance of receivables 
owned by the SPE exceeds the principal amount of asset-backed securities 
issued by the SPE); segregated cash reserve funds, Senior Seller loans 
and subordinated loans.

The SPE engages FCE as servicer to collect and service the sold 
receivables for a servicing fee. FCE’s servicing duties include collecting 
payments on receivables and preparing monthly investor reports on 
the performance of the sold receivables that are used by the trustee to 
distribute monthly interest and/or principal payments to investors. 
While servicing the sold receivables for the SPE, FCE applies the same 
servicing policies and procedures that it applies to its owned receivables 
and maintains its normal relationship with its financing customers. 

Under each retail transaction (except Series 3 which was initiated as 
an amortising transaction), further offers to sell receivables will be made 
to the Globaldrive companies each month under the same terms and 
conditions for a revolving period that is expected to last approximately 
36 months from the issue date. During this revolving period, the principal 
collections will be reinvested in further FCE assets, followed by an 
amortisation period during which principal collections will be allocated 
to senior noteholders first.

Each revolving retail transaction includes a clean-up call option. This 
means that on any interest payment date on which the aggregate net 
present value of all assigned receivables falls to less than 10 per cent of 
the Initial Loan Pool Balance, the Seller (FCE) and the Purchaser may 
agree that the Seller repurchase those assigned receivables. In 2005 a 
clean-up call on the Series C transaction was exercised by FCE and £24 
million of assets were repurchased by FCE from Globaldrive.
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13 Sales of receivables and related financing (continued)

Securitisation programmes

Retail securitisations: 
FCE sells pools of retail receivables to SPE’s that issue securities, which 
are sold to investors in public offerings or private transactions. The loans 
have been purchased directly from FCE by the Globaldrive SPE’s identified 
within the table ‘Assets securitised and debt securities’, with the exception 
of the Series E transaction. With regard to the Series E transaction the 
Spanish and Italian loans were purchased from FCE respectively by TdA, 
Fondo de Titulización de Activos, a Spanish asset securitisation fund 
and Globaldrive (Italy) S.r.l., an Italian special purpose entity established 
under the provisions of the Italian securitisation Law No. 130. Both the 
Spanish and Italian purchasers have been funded by the master purchaser 
Globaldrive Series E B.V. 

Wholesale securitisations:
With regard to the Globaldrive Dealer Floorplan programme the Spanish 
and French dealer floorplan receivables were purchased from FCE 
respectively by Globaldrive Dealer Floorplan (Spain) Tda, Fondo de 
Titulización de Activos and Globaldrive Dealer Floorplan (France) FCC 
asset securitisation funds.

Both the Spanish and French Local purchasers have been funded by 
the master purchaser Globaldrive Dealer Floorplan B.V by the issue of 
commercial paper at a discount. Globaldrive Dealer Floorplan B.V. is 
funded via the issue of asset backed notes and a senior seller loan 
provided by FCE Bank plc. 

Under the terms of the Globaldrive Dealer Floorplan programme, the 
Local Purchasers acquire all further Dealer Floorplan receivables originated 
in favour of designated dealers from the relevant FCE locations during 
the next 20 years (the ‘Sale Period’). The Sale Period may terminate early 
upon standard events such as FCE insolvency and in the event that the 
master purchaser is not funded by any third party liabilities. The Dealer 
Floorplan transaction 2004-1/2 is scheduled to run for 20 years – however 
individual series of asset backed notes are scheduled to revolve for 3 years 
or less and will then amortise.

In addition, FCE, through its Italian branch, has completed the sale 
of Dealer Wholesale Finance Receivables, with a maximum aggregated 
value of EUR€ 1,176 million. The receivables were purchased at a discount 
to face value by a third party bank in a private transaction. The consideration 
received was the provision of a revolving facility equivalent to the 
discounted value of the receivables (EUR€ 1,000 million).

During 2005, as part of the 2005-1 Dealer Floorplan transaction a new 
issue of variable funding notes was introduced. As with the 2004–1/2 
issue, it contains three classes of notes A, B and C. Class A and B notes 
were issued to a third party bank in a private transaction. Class C notes 
were retained by FCE. The amounts relating to retained B and C notes 
are 2004-1/2 £89 million (2004- £112 million), and 2005-1 £45 million 
(2004: nil), and are reported within Note 18 as ‘Retained Notes’.
 
Other structured financings:
FCE through its Worldwide Trade Financing division has completed two 
sales of dealer wholesale finance receivables with maximum aggregated 
values of US$ 250 million and US$ 175 million. In both transactions 
the receivables were purchased by banks in private transactions. The 
consideration was the provision of a revolving multi currency facility 
of the same amount provided by the purchaser. Subsequent sales of 
receivables will continue as existing receivables amortise.

Continuing obligations 
FCE typically has no obligation to repurchase or replace any receivable 
sold to an SPE that subsequently becomes delinquent in payment or 
otherwise is in default. Investors holding securities issued by an SPE 
have no recourse to FCE or our other assets for credit losses on the sold 
receivables and have no right to require FCE to repurchase the securities. 
FCE does not guarantee any asset-backed securities and has no obligation 
to provide liquidity or make monetary contributions or contributions of 
additional receivables to our SPEs either due to the performance of the 
sold receivables or the credit rating of FCE’s short-term or long-term debt. 

Apart from the subordinated loans detailed on the following page FCE 
is under no obligation to support any losses that may be incurred by the 
Globaldrive companies. Holders of the notes are only entitled to obtain 
payment of principal and interest to the extent that the resources of the 
Globaldrive companies are sufficient to support such payments, and the 
holders of the notes have agreed in writing not to seek recourse in any 
other form.
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The Senior Seller Loan relating to the 2004-1/2 issue of £94 million 
(2004: £118 million) ranks parri-passu with the asset-backed note 
holders. Both the subordinated loans and the Senior Seller loan are 
reported in ‘Note 18 Other assets’. 

Accounting treatment
As the arrangements of such transactions do not satisfy the requirements 
for accounting sale treatment under IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments, 
recognition and measurement’, the sold receivables and the associated 
debt are not removed from the balance sheet. Assets that have been set 
aside to repay debt issued by securitisation SPEs are only available to 
repay the debt issued by the securitisation SPE’s and to pay other 
securitisation investors and other participants. These assets are not 
available to pay FCE’s other obligations or the claims of FCE’s other 
creditors. The debt issued by these securitisation SPE’s is payable out 
of collections on these assets. This debt is the legal obligation of the 
securitisation SPE’ys and is not the legal obligation of FCE.

Subordinated loans receivable

Series  Finance Provided to: Currency  Interest Rate Per Annum  Company

No [Country of incorporation] 000’s  2005 2004

    £ mil £ mil

C Globaldrive (UK) plc – [UK] GBP 1,250 GBP 1-M-LIBOR +120 bps £- £1

C Globaldrive (UK) plc – [UK] GBP 800 Non interest bearing - 1

E TdA, Fondo de Titulización de Activos – [Spain] EUR €12,732  Performance related 8 10

E Globaldrive Series E B.V. – [Netherlands] EUR €1,200 EUR 3-M-EURIBOR +120 bps - 1

F Globaldrive (Germany) Series F – [UK] EUR €2,400 EUR 1-M-EURIBOR +125 bps - 2

2 Globaldrive (UK) Series 2 plc – [UK] GBP 6,100  GBP 1-M-LIBOR +120 bps 6 6

2 Globaldrive (UK) Series 2 plc – [UK] GBP 640  Non interest bearing 1 1

3 TdA, Fondo de Titulización de Activos – [Spain]  EUR €49,000 Performance related 34 -

 Total subordinated loans   £49 £22
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Investments in group undertakings Company

   2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil

Cost at 1 January   £80 £76

Additional investment in subsidiaries  - 6

Liquidation of subsidiaries  - (2)

Cost at 31 December  80 80

Amounts written down at 1 January  (8) (6)

Release of provision following liquidation 

of subsidiaries  - 2

Amounts written down in the year  - (4)

Amounts written down at 31 December  (8) (8)

Net book value at 31 December  £72 £72

Investment in banks included above  7 7

Subsidiary undertakings  Beneficial  Accounting  Country of  Principal 

as at 31 December 2005 interest reference date incorporation/registration activity

Automotive Finance Limited * 100% 30 June  England & Wales Finance company

FCE Leasing (Holdings) Limited 100% 31 December England & Wales Holding company

FCE Leasing Limited * 100% 31 December  England & Wales Finance company

Ford Automotive Leasing Limited * 100% 30 September England & Wales Finance company

Jaguar Financial Services Limited * 100% 31 March England & Wales Finance company

Meritpoint Limited 100% 30 June  England & Wales Finance company

Primus Automotive Financial 

Services Limited 100% 31 December  England & Wales Dormant

Volvo Car Finance Limited 100% 31 December England & Wales Dormant

FCE Credit s.r.o. 100% 31 December Czech Republic Finance company

Volvo Car Finance Finland Limited 100% 31 December Finland Finance Company

FCE Credit Hungaria Zrt (Item 1)  100% 31 December  Hungary Finance company

FCE Services Kft * 100% 31 December  Hungary Finance company

FCE SpA (Item 2) 100% 31 December  Italy In liquidation

FCE Bank Polska S.A. 100% 31 December Poland Bank

FCE Credit Poland S.A. 100% 31 December Poland Finance company

All subsidiaries are consolidated into these financial statements and operate principally in their country of incorporation. 
Subsidiaries indicated by an asterisk are not directly owned by FCE.

Item 1. On 21 December 2005 FCE Credit Hungaria Rt. was redesignated to FCE Credit Hungaria Zrt to reflect changes 
in Hungarian company law.

Item 2. FCE SpA was placed into voluntary liquidation on 16 December 2004.
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15 Goodwill and other intangible assets

 Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Net book value     

Goodwill  £160 £160  £12 £12

Other intangible assets (per table below)  26 27  26 27

Total goodwill and intangible assets   £186 £187  £38 £39

GOODWILL

Cost and net book value:

At 1 January and 31 December  £160 £160  £12 £12

Impairment charge:

At 1 January and 31 December  £- £-  £- £-

FCE has not applied IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ retrospectively to business combinations prior to
the date of transition. The goodwill as reported in the UK GAAP balance sheet as at 31 December 2003 
has accordingly been brought forward without adjustment.

Analysis of other intangible assets

  Company    Group

  Software    Software

 Internally  Externally  Total  Internally  Externally  Total

 generated acquired   generated acquired

 £ mil £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil £ mil

Cost:

At 1 January 2005 £11 £23 £34  £11 £24 £35

Additions 4 - 4  4 - 4 

At 31 December 2005 15 23 38  15 24 39

Amortisation: 

At 1 January 2005 6 1 7  7 1 8

Charge for the year 5 - 5  5 - 5

At 31 December 2005 11 1 12  12 1 13

Net book value at 

31 December 2005 £3 £22 £26  £3 £23 £26

Net book value at 

31 December 2004 £5 £22 £27  £4 £23 £27
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16 Property and equipment

 Company Group

 Leasehold  Office  Motor  Total Leasehold  Office  Motor  Total

 Improvements Equipment Vehicles  Improvements Equipment Vehicles

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Cost:

At 1 January 2005 £4 £24 £882 £910 £4 £25 £1,018 £1,047

Additions - 1 687 688 - - 754 754

Disposals - (6) (1,191) (1,197) - (6) (1,265) (1,271)

Translation adjustment - (1) (22) (23) - (1) (23) (24)

At 31 December 2005 4 18 356 378 4 18 484 506

        

Depreciation:

At 1 January 2005 2 20 237 259 2 21 285 308

Charge for the year - - 176 176 - 1 211 212

Disposals - (5) (309) (314) - (5) (346) (351)

Translation adjustment - - (5) (5) - (1) (4) (5)

At 31 December 2005 2 15 99 116 2 16 146 164

Net book value at 31 December 2005 £2 £3 £257 £262 £2 £2 £338 £342

Net book value at 31 December 2004 £2 £4 £645 £651 £2 £4 £733 £739

FCE has adopted the carrying values of all items of property, plant and equipment on the date of transition under UK GAAP as their deemed cost, 
rather than reverting to historical cost or carrying out a valuation at the date of transition as permitted by IFRS 1.

Motor vehicles include vehicles held for use under operating leases as follows:

 Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Cost  £350 £877  £476 £1,011

Accumulated depreciation  (97) (234)  (144) (281)

Net book value  £253 £643  £332 £730

All assets are valued on the historical cost basis. Included in depreciation above are allowances for impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts and 
residual value provisions for operating lease assets of £7 million (2004: £17 million) for the Group and £7 million (2004: £16 million) for the Company.

Disposals include the sale of FCE’s portfolio of commercial operating lease and full service leasing vehicles which were sold in a number of European 
markets in 2005 and 2004 as detailed within Note 33 ‘Acquisitions and disposals’.

For details of vehicle residual values included in Property and Equipment refer to Note 28 ‘Vehicle residual values’.
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17 Deferred tax liabilities

The movement on the deferred 
income tax account is as follows:
 Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

At 1 January liability/(asset)  £(40) £(29)  £(9) £9

Income statement charge/(credit)  30 (11)  1 (18)

At 31 December liability/(asset)  £(10) £(40)  £ (8) £ (9)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

Deferred income tax liability:
 Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Accelerated tax depreciation  £2 £-  £2 £-

Other provisions  33 47  41 82

At 31 December liability/(asset)  £35 £47  £43 £82

Deferred income tax asset:
 Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Accelerated tax depreciation  £(19) £(38)  £(14) £(9)

Other provisions  (26) (49)  (37) (82)

At 31 December liability/(asset)  £(45) £(87)  £(51) £(91)

The deferred tax charge in the income statement 
comprises the following temporary differences:
 Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Accelerated tax depreciation  £19 £(12)  £(3) £(6)

Other provisions  11 1  4 (12)

At 31 December liability/(asset)  £30 £(11)  £1 £(18)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards only to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable. 
At 31 December 2005, FCE Ireland branch has £7.3 million (2004: £6.0 million) of unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognised.
Deferred income tax liabilities have not been established for the withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of 
certain subsidiaries, as such amounts are permanently reinvested; unremitted earnings totalled £34.2 million at 31 December 2005 (2004: £23.3 million).



18 Other assets
 Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Short term receivable – related parties  £286 £341  £207 £184

Short term receivable – external  179 111  182 113

Vehicles awaiting resale  140 107  140 107

Prepaid taxes  46 34  48 36

Prepayments and accrued Income  28 25  13 20

Short term receivables – FCE subsidiaries  145 134  - -

Sub-total excluding SPE receivables  824 752  590 460

Receivables SPE’s:

- Retained Notes  135 112  - -

- Senior Seller loans  94 118  - -

- Subordinated loans (Note 13)  49 22  - -

- Other  10 6  - -

Sub-total SPE’s  288 258  - -

Other assets  £1,112 £1,010  £590 £460

Amounts receivable from subsidiary undertakings includes both short-term receivable balances generated in the ordinary course 
of business and longer term funding provided to subsidiaries. Refer to Note 32 ‘Related party transactions’ for further details.

19 Due to other banks
 Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Financing from banks relating 

to sales of receivables (Note 13)  £1,419 £409  £2,282 £1,059

Bank borrowings excluding overdrafts  840 688  933 790

European Investment Bank loans  762 805  762 805

Bank overdrafts  121 182  128 191

Due to other banks  £3,142 £2,084  £4,105 £2,845

Financing from banks relates to various sales of receivables completed under private transactions. As the arrangements do not satisfy the requirements 
for accounting sale treatment under IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments, recognition and measurement’, the sold receivables and the associated debt are 
not removed from the balance sheet. This debt is the legal obligation of the securitisation SPE’s and is not the legal obligation of FCE.

Bank borrowings excluding overdrafts are typically either payments received as servicer in regard to sold receivables to banks which are in process 
of being repaid or other borrowings excluding overdrafts utilised in the ordinary course of business. 

The European Investment Bank (EIB) loans partially support a number of different vehicle projects relating to our automotive partners which have 
been assigned to FCE. The EIB loans have remaining terms from one to seven years and are supported by guarantees provided by financial institutions 
on behalf of FCE to the EIB.
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20 Due to parent and related undertakings
 Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Loans due to related parties  £4,141 £5,125  £4,141 £5,125

Deposits received from related parties  591 649  591 649

Accounts payable related parties  208 177  218 189

Payables to SPE’s  977 781  - -

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings  91 84  - -

Due to parent and related undertakings  £6,008 £6,816  £4,950 £5,963

‘Loans due to related parties’ includes the following loans outstanding due to Ford Motor Credit Company (FMCC):
• Term loans received with maturity dates ranging from 2006 to 2009, and
• Amounts drawn under a short term revolving facility provided by FMCC which matures on 8 February 2007 or earlier upon 60 days notice from FMCC.

‘Deposits received from related parties’ includes both deposits and related interest due to Ford Credit International Inc. (FCI), the Company’s 
immediate parent undertaking. At the end of 2005 such deposits totalled £585 million (2004: £645 million).

‘Payables to SPE’s’ relates to collections received by FCE as ‘servicer’ under structured financing transactions which will be settled at the next 
contractual distribution date.

21 Debt securities in issue

Details of the public debt funding programmes 
as at 31 December are as follows:
 Company  Group

PROGRAMME (YEAR LAUNCHED) – AMOUNT 2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Euro Medium Term Note (1993) – US$12 billion 

Continuously Available Retail Securities 

(retail investors (1993)  £512 £485  £512 £485

Other  2,547 3,077  2,547 3,077

Sub-total Euro Medium Term Notes  3,059 3,562  3,059 3,562

Schuldschein  1,207 1,324  1,207 1,324

Related financing – public receivable sales (Note 13) 736 1,116  866 1,168

Polish CP (1993) PLN 1 billion  - -  49 46

Euro Commercial Paper (CP) & Euro Certificate 

of Deposit (CD) (1993) – US$5 billion  27 530  27 530

French Euro CD (1993) – EUR €3 billion  2 93  2 93

US CP (1993) – Unlimited  - 31  - 31

Debt securities in issue  £5,031 £6,656  £5,210 £6,754

Continuously Available Retail Securities are bonds that are designed for retail investors.
Schuldschein are certificates of indebtedness governed under German law issued by FCE’s German branches.



22 Other borrowed funds
    Company / Group

Type/  Currency  Earliest  Interest Rate  2005 2004

maturity date Amount (Mils) repayment dates per Annum £ mil £ mil

Perpetual Loan US$ 218.6 7 October 2005 USD 3-M-LIBOR + 71.35 bps  £127 £113

Perpetual Loan EUR€ 46.0 6 October 2005 EUR 6-M-EUR LIBOR + 150bps 32 32

Perpetual Loan EUR€ 35.8 6 October 2005 EUR 6-M-EUR LIBOR + 95bps 24 25

Perpetual Loan EUR€ 12.8 6 October 2005 EUR 6-M-EUR LIBOR + 95bps 9 9

Perpetual Loan EUR€ 5.6 6 October 2005 EUR 6-M-EUR LIBOR + 75bps 4 4

Perpetual Loan EUR€ 5.6 6 October 2005 EUR 6-M-EUR LIBOR + 75bps 4 4

Perpetual Loan EUR€ 0.8 6 October 2005 EUR 6-M-EUR LIBOR + 75bps 1 1

Loan 2010 US$ 250 16 December 2005 USD 3-M-LIBOR + 105bps 145 129

Loan 2007 US$ 200 18 December 2005 USD 3-M-LIBOR + 50bps 116 103

Loan 2012 US$ 55 28 December 2006 USD 3-M-LIBOR + 185bps 32 29

Loan 2011 US$ 45 31 October 2006 USD 3-M-LIBOR + 230bps 26 23

PC’s 2005 EUR€ 30.7 Matured EUR 12-M-EUR LIBOR + 130bps - 22

Total Other Borrowed Funds    £520 £494
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Subordinated liabilities as at year end 2005 are due to fellow subsidiaries 
of the Ford Motor Company group. Early repayment of the loans due to 
Ford subsidiaries requires the prior written consent of the Financial 
Services Authority and as such qualifies for Tier II capital for regulatory 
reporting purposes.

The US dollar subordinated loans are due to Ford Credit International 
Inc. (FCI), the Company’s immediate parent undertaking. FCE may repay 
or FCI may request repayment of the US dollar loans following the 
earliest repayment date as detailed above by giving one month’s written 
notice. The EUR loans are due to Ford Motor Credit Company (FMCC). 
FCE may terminate the agreement at any time after the earliest repayment 
date as detailed above by giving one month’s written notice. FMCC may 
terminate the agreement by giving five years and one day’s prior written 
notice. Cross currency swaps are used to minimise currency risks on US 
dollar denominated funding. The Euro subordinated loans relate to two 
German branches of FCE (Ford Bank and Mazda Bank).

The rights of FCI and FMCC to payment and interest in respect of all 
loans will, in the event of winding up of FCE, be subordinated to the 
rights of all unsubordinated creditors of the Company with respect to 
their senior claims.

The Company has a US$1 billion subordinated loan facility with FCI. 
This facility enables the Company to respond quickly if additional capital 
support is required. Under the terms of the facility, FCE is able to take 
drawdowns up to the maximum principal amount of the facility. Any 
undrawn amount of the facility will be available until it is cancelled either 
by FCE or FCI. At the end of 2005, outstandings under the facility totalled 
US$ 568.6 million (2004: US$ 568.6 million), and comprised the US$ 
218.6 million (2004: US$ 218.6 million) perpetual loans and three of the 
four dated loans totalling US$ 350 million (2004: US$ 350 million).

The Participating Certificates (PCs) which matured in 2005 are due to 
third party banks and pending repayment are included in Note 19 ‘Due 
to other banks’.
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23 Other liabilities
 Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Accrued liabilities & deferred income  £258 £242  £283 £262

Accounts payable  181 150  187 135

Income taxes payable  13 67  5 62

Other liabilities  £452 £459  £475 £459

24 Retirement benefit obligations

In a number of locations FCE employees participate in various defined benefit plans operated by Ford Motor Company and Volvo Cars. 
In other locations which operate pension schemes FCE employees typically participate in defined contribution plans with the exception 
of FCE Spain which has a defined benefit plan. Total pension costs are detailed below and are charged to ‘Other operating expenses’.

FCE Greece, Italy, Sweden, Poland, Hungary and the Czech Republic have no company pension schemes.

Total pension expense in the period

 Company  Group

  2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ 000’s £ 000’s  £ 000’s £ 000’s

Plans expensed as defined contribution plans: 

- Defined benefit plans operated by

  Ford and Volvo Cars  £15,767 £12,673  £15,767 £12,673

- Defined contribution plans in which

  FCE participates  2,222 1,585  2,378 1,665

Defined benefit plans  448 61  448 61

Total pension expense  £18,437 £14,319  £18,593 £14,399

Defined benefit plans operated by Ford and Volvo Cars expensed as defined contribution plans
In a number of locations FCE employees participate in defined benefit plans operated by Ford Motor Company and Volvo Cars. As there 
is no contractual agreement or stated policy for charging the net defined benefit cost for the plan, measured in accordance with IAS 19 
‘Employee Benefits’ to individual group entities FCE has recognised a cost equal to contributions payable for the period and therefore the 
plans are accounted for as defined contribution plans.

The following table details the benefit obligation and plan assets for the schemes operated by Ford Motor Company and Volvo Cars in which 
FCE employees participate. Where available the valuations are shown separately for Automotive (Auto) and FCE employees, however, in the 
majority of cases separate data has not been collected historically and the valuations relate to the whole plan. As FCE employees typically are 
a minority in each scheme, the number of current FCE employees participating is shown relative to the total number of current employees 
participating, to give an indication of materiality.
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    Company / Group 2005

Accounted for as defined Benefit obligations  Plan Assets  Funding 

contribution plan – part 1 of 2 Auto FCE Total  Auto FCE Total  Surplus/ 

year 2005          (Deficit)

          C/fwd

Location Scheme £ mil £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil £ mil  £ mil 

Belgium  Ford £181.9 £3.2 £185.1  £155.0 £2.4 £157.4  £(27.7)

Belgium Volvo *** *** 81.1  *** *** 47.3  (33.8)

Germany  Ford Foveruka *** *** 2,274.9  *** *** 1,358.5  (916.4)

Germany ** Ford Exempt *** *** 1,685.0  *** *** -  (1,685.0)

Ireland* Ford *** *** 39.4  *** *** 39.1  (0.3)

Netherlands Ford 81.8 4.3 86.1  85.5 4.4 89.9  3.8

Portugal Ford 5.2 0.1 5.3  4.7 0.2 4.9  (0.4)

Switzerland Ford 19.5 4.1 23.6  26.1 5.4 31.5  7.9

UK Ford Salaried *** *** 3,019.5  *** *** 2,574.0  (445.5)

UK Ford Senior staff *** *** 325.0  *** *** 257.8  (67.2)

UK  Volvo 73.9 1.5 75.4  58.7 1.3 60.0  (15.4)

 Total £*** £*** £7,800.4  £*** £*** £4,620.4  £(3,180.0)

Accounted for as defined  Funding  Total Pension plan participants FCE participants* 

contribution plan – part 2 of 2 Surplus/  Current  Retirees Total Current  % of   Contribution 

year 2005  (Deficit) employees   employees Current   paid in year

  B/fwd     employees

Location Scheme £ mil       £000’s

Belgium  Ford £(27.7) 498 1,303 1,801 36 7.2%  £221

Belgium Volvo (33.8) 5,043 - 5,043 20 0.4%  123

Germany  Ford Foveruka (916.4) 23,641 22,097 45,738 850 3.6%  4,891

Germany** Ford Exempt (1,685.0) 1,380 4,539 5,919 65 4.7%  -

Ireland* Ford (0.3) 63 342 405 29 46.0%  3,237

Netherlands Ford 3.8 112 869 981 58 51.8%  278

Portugal Ford (0.4) 45 595 640 28 62.2%  -

Switzerland Ford 7.9 108 56 164 66 61.1%  439

UK Ford Salaried (445.5) 5,806 11,102 16,908 847 14.6%  6,465

UK Ford Snr. staff (67.2) 205 352 557 15 7.3%  -

UK  Volvo (15.4) 267 107 374 17 6.4%  113

 Total £(3,180.0) 37,168 41,362 78,530 2,031 5.5%  £15,767

* The number of FCE participants that are current employees is unavailable for the Ireland scheme. 
The number of current employees is therefore the FCE location headcount as at 31 December 2005.

** Ford Werke GmbH maintains a balance sheet reserve for the Germany Ford Exempt plan of £1,313 million as at 31 December 2005.

*** Separate valuations for Automotive (Auto) and FCE employees have not been collected historically and the valuations contained 
in the total columns relate to the whole plan. 

24 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Details of plans operated by Ford and Volvo Cars and accounted as defined contribution.
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    Company / Group 2004

Accounted for as defined Benefit obligations  Plan Assets  Funding 

contribution plan – part 1 of 2 Auto FCE Total  Auto FCE Total  Surplus/ 

year2004          (Deficit)

          C/fwd

Location Scheme £ mil £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil £ mil  £ mil 

Belgium  Ford £182.5 £2.8 £185.3  £146.8 £2.0 £148.8  £(36.5)

Belgium* Volvo *** *** 71.2  *** *** 45.7  (25.5)

Germany  Ford Foveruka *** *** 1,883.1  *** *** 1,316.0  (567.1)

Germany**  Ford Exempt *** *** 1,527.4  *** *** -  (1,527.4)

Ireland* Ford *** *** 37.6  *** *** 34.1  (3.5)

Netherlands Ford 67.6 2.4 70.0  72.2 2.6 74.8  4.8

Portugal Ford 4.8 0.2 5.0  4.8 0.2 5.0  0

Switzerland Ford 20.2 4.1 24.3  24.7 5.0 29.7  5.4

UK Ford Salaried *** *** 2,690.5  *** *** 2,133.0  (557.5)

UK Ford Senior staff *** *** 286.0  *** *** 202.3  (83.7)

UK  Volvo 59.4 1.1 60.5  47.0 0.9 47.9  (12.6)

 Total £*** £*** £6,840.9  £*** £*** £4,037.3  £(2,803.6)

Accounted for as defined Funding  Total Pension plan participants FCE participants* 

contribution plan – part 2 of 2 Surplus/   Current  Retirees Total Current  % of   Contribution 

year 2004  (Deficit)  employees   employees Current   paid in year

  B/fwd      employees

Location Scheme £ mil        £000’s

Belgium  Ford £(36.5)  516 1,342 1,858 39 7.6%  62

Belgium* Volvo (25.5)  4,703 0 4,703 24 0.5%  73

Germany  Ford Foveruka (567.1)  25,171 20,955 46,126 730 2.9%  3,933

Germany** Ford Exempt (1,527.4)  1,633 4,373 6,006 69 4.2%  -

Ireland* Ford (3.5)  63 342 405 30 47.6%  -

Netherlands Ford 4.8  104 838 942 59 56.7%  600

Portugal Ford 0  67 447 514 36 53.7%  -

Switzerland Ford 5.4  108 56 164 67 62.0%  412

UK Ford Salaried (557.5)  6,050 11,400 17,450 1,024 16.9%  7,471

UK Ford Snr. staff (83.7)  205 340 545 15 7.3%  -

UK  Volvo (12.6)  271 93 364 18 6.6%  122

 Total £(2,803.6)  38,891 40,186 79,077 2,111 5.4%  £12,673

* The number of FCE participants that are current employees is unavailable for the Ireland scheme. 
The number of current employees is therefore the FCE location headcount as at 31 December 2005.

** Ford Werke GmbH maintains a balance sheet reserve for the Germany Ford Exempt plan of £1,297 million as at 31 December 2004.

*** Separate valuations for Automotive (Auto) and FCE employees have not been collected historically and the valuations contained 
in the total columns relate to the whole plan.

Details of plans operated by Ford and Volvo Cars and accounted as defined contribution.
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24 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Details of plans operated by Ford and Volvo Cars and accounted as defined contribution.

As the majority of FCE employees participate in the UK Ford Salaried and German Ford Foveruka 
plans further disclosures are provided on these particular plans below.

 2005  2004

Changes in the present value of the   UK Ford  German   UK Ford German

defined benefit plan obligations  Salaried Foveruka  Salaried Foveruka

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Opening present value  £2,690.5 £1,883.1  £2,527.7 £1,627.9

Service cost  53.0 48.0  46.0 42.8

Interest cost  138.0 85.7  136.0 87.6

Actuarial losses/(gains)  201.0 327.8  73.2 195.3

Losses (gains) on curtailments  56.0 46.6  8.1 -

Member Contributions  16.0 -  15.8 -

Translation adjustment  - (51.2)  - (0.2)

Benefits paid  (135.0) (65.1)  (116.3) (70.3)

Closing present value  £3,019.5 £2,274.9  £2,690.5 £1,883.1

The pension plans on which the defined benefit obligation arises are wholly or partly funded.

 2005  2004

Changes in the fair value of plan assets  UK Ford  German   UK Ford German

  Salaried Foveruka  Salaried Foveruka

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Opening fair value of plan assets  £2,133.0 £1,315.8  £1,919.4 £1,213.1

Expected return  168.0 72.0  175.2 60.4

Actuarial gains/(losses)  271.0 -  31.6 -

Contributions by employer  121.0 72.0  107.3 112.8

Member contributions  16.0 -  15.8 -

Translation adjustment  - (36.2)  - (0.2)

Benefits paid  (135.0) (65.1)  (116.3) (70.3)

  £2,574.0 £1,358.5  £2,133.0 £1,315.8

    

 2005  2004

Summary of Plan Assets  UK Ford  German   UK Ford German

  Salaried Foveruka  Salaried Foveruka

  % %  % %

Insurance Policy  - 100  - 100

Equities  72 -  69 -

Bonds  21 -  27 -

Other  7 -  4 -

Total  100% 100%  100% 100%
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 2005  2004

Principal Actuarial Assumptions   UK Ford  German   UK Ford German

at the Balance Sheet  Salaried Foveruka  Salaried Foveruka

  % %  % %

Discount rate  4.75 4.00  5.25 4.75

Expected rate of return on plan assets  8.00 5.50  8.00 5.50

Future salary increases  4.00 3.50  4.00 3.50

Future pension increases  2.50 2.00  2.50 2.00

Future pension increases (discretionary)  1.90 -  1.90 -

In some locations FCE employees are members of insured schemes, where contributions are made to an insurance company. 
In FCE France a balance sheet reserve of £255,000 (2004: £211,000) is held for employees at management level and above. 
A summary of the defined contribution plans is given in the table below.

Details of defined contribution plans in which FCE participates

 Company  Group

    2005 2004  2005 2004

Contribution paid in year  £’000’s £’000’s  £’000’s £’000’s

Location  Scheme     

Austria Insured  £(77) £9  £(77) £9

Denmark Insured  128 159  128 159

Finland Insured  180 163  180 163

VCF Finland Insured  - -  156 80

France  Balance sheet reserve  271 (251)  271 (251)

Italy State   1,525 1,417  1,525 1,417

Norway Insured  64 (3)  64 (3)

Spain Insured  69 36  69 36

Sweden State  62 55  62 55

Total contributions paid  £2,222 £1,585  £2,378 £1,665

Details of defined benefit plans
FCE Spain operates a defined benefit plan in which FCE employees at management level are the only participants. An actuarial valuation report has 
been obtained for the years to 31 December 2004 and 31 December 2005 under IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’. A summary is provided in the following table.

DEFINED BENEFIT   Year Benefit  Plan  Funding   Pension plan  Expense paid 

PLANS OPERATED    obligations Assets Surplus/   participants in year

BY FCE     (Deficit)   £000’s

   £ mil £ mil £ mil  Total FCE 2005 2004

Location Scheme

Spain FCE 2005 4.1 4.0 (0.1)  39 39 £448 £-

Spain FCE 2004 3.6 3.4 (0.2)  42 42 - £61

Total pension expense in the period for plans accounted as defined benefit plans     £448 £61
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25 Contingent liabilities

 Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

City of Cologne authorities  £33 £34  £33 £34

Guarantees to European Customs authorities, 

Revenue Commissioners and agencies.  22  21  22 21

Contingent Liabilities  £55 £55  £55 £55

A guarantee for suspended trade tax payments was issued in December 2004 by FCE to the City of Cologne Authorities on behalf of Ford Werke GmbH. 
This guarantee will be extended automatically each year until notice of termination by FCE.

FCE provides guarantees to various European Customs Authorities, Revenue Commissioners and agencies (including the UK Driver and Vehicle 
Licensing Agency) on behalf of Ford affiliated manufacturers in regard to duties and registration taxes on imported vehicles and components.

26 Commitments

The table below details the undrawn portion of commitments to lend. FCE extends commercial credit primarily to vehicle dealers in the form of 
approved lines of credit to purchase inventories of new and used vehicles.

 Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Less than 1 year maturity  £54 £60  £54 £79

1 year or over maturity  2 22  2 22

Commitments  £56 £82  £56 £101

27 Future lease commitments

 Company  Group

   2005 2004  2005 2004

The future minimum lease payments under 

non cancellable operating leases are as follows: £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Not later than one year  £9 £9  £9 £9 

Later than one year and not later than five years 14 17  14 17 

Later than five years   1  1   1  1 

Future lease commitments  £24 £27  £24 £27
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28 Vehicle residual values

The following vehicle residual values are included in loans and advances to customers and property, plant and equipment in the balance sheet.

Company  

Year in which the residual  Retail residual Finance lease  Operating lease  2005 2004 

value will be recovered values residual values residual values Total Total

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Within 1 year £337 £47 £97 £481 £628

Between 1-2 years 430 49 54 533 559

Between 2-5 years 354 41 2 397 486

More than 5 years - - - - -

Total £1,121 £137 £153 £1,411 £1,673

Group  

Year in which the residual  Retail residual Finance lease  Operating lease  2005 2004 

value will be recovered values residual values residual values Total Total

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Within 1 year £337 £47 £103 £487 £640

Between 1-2 years 430 49 61 540 563

Between 2-5 years 354 41 8 403 493

More than 5 years - - - - -

Total £1,121 £137 £172 £1,430 £1,696

Residual values represent the estimated value of the vehicle at the end of the retail or leasing financing plan. Certain retail residual values relate 
to finance plans which allow the customer to return the vehicle if the market value is less than the Minimum Guaranteed Future Value. The overall 
return rate for retail finance plans is currently less than 3 per cent. As the above figures assume that all such vehicles will be returned the figures 
are likely to overstate exposure to residual value risk.

29 Ordinary shares and share premium

 Company  Group

 2005 2004 2005 2004

Authorised at 1 January and 31 December: £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

769,926,202 Ordinary shares of £1 each (2004: 769,926,202) £770 £770 £770 £770

230,073,798 Non Cumulative convertible preference shares  230 230 230 230

£1 each (2004: 230,073,798)

Total £1,000 £1,000 £1,000 £1,000

Allotted, called up and fully paid at 1 January & 31 December:

614,384,050 Ordinary shares of £1 each (2004: 614,384,050) £614 £614 £614 £614

Share premium at 1 January and 31 December: £352 £352 £352 £352

There was no change to the issued share capital of the Company during the year. The share premium account is regarded as permanent capital of the 
Company and is not available for distribution. No director, officer or employee own or hold shares or own or hold options over shares in the Company.
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29 Ordinary shares and share premium (continued)

Support Agreement
Pursuant to a support agreement between Ford Credit and FCE dated 30 September 2004, Ford Credit has agreed to maintain, directly or indirectly, 
a controlling interest of not less than 75% of the issued share capital of FCE and to maintain or procure the maintenance of FCE’s net worth of not 
less than US$ 500 million initially until 31 January 2010.

However as neither party provided written notice on 1 February 2005 or 1 February 2006 the termination date was automatically extended each time 
by one year and now is 31 January 2012. The agreement provides for the termination date to be extended automatically on February 1 of each year for 
an additional one-year period ending on 31 January of the following year. Either party can give notice one month before automatic extension of their 
wish to prevent the automatic extension of the termination date and terminate the agreement in which case it will terminate as of the termination 
date set on the last preceding extension date.

30 Retained earnings and other reserves

 Profit and Translation Total retained  Other  Total

 loss reserve reserve earnings reserves

 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Company £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

At 1 January: £1,021 £794 £(2) £- £1,019 £794 £(7) £(15) £1,012 £779

Profit for the financial year 206 227 - - 206 227 - - 206 227

Capital contribution  28 - - - 28 -  - 28 -

Cash flow hedges fair value 

adjustment gain/(loss) - - - - - - 7 8 7 8

Currency translation differences - - (15) (2) (15) (2) - - (15) (2)

At 31 December £1,255 £1,021 £ (17) £(2) £1,238 £1,019 £- £(7) £1,238 £1,012

 Profit and Translation Total retained  Other  Total

 loss reserve reserve earnings reserves

 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Group £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

At 1 January: £894 £628 £3 £- £897 £628 £(7) £(14) £890 £614

Profit for the financial year 244 266 - - 244 266 - - 244 266

Capital contribution 28 -   28 - - - 28 -

Cash flow hedges fair value 

adjustment gain/(loss) - - - - - - 7 7 7 7

Currency translation differences - - (17) 3 (17) 3 - - (17) 3

At 31 December £1,166 £894 £(14) £3 £1,152 £897 £- £(7) £1,152 £890

In December 2005 the Company received a capital contribution of £27,803,382 (US$ 49 million) from the Company’s shareholder to be used 
solely to make a payment to Jaguar Cars Limited in return for use of Group tax relief.

FCE has brought forward a nil opening balance on cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment arising from the re-translation of foreign 
operations, which is shown as a separate item in shareholders equity at the date of transition in Note 30 ‘Retained earnings and other reserves’.
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31 Dividend per share

Final dividends are not accounted for until they have been approved at the 
Annual General Meeting. The directors have not declared any dividends 
during 2005 (2004: none).

32 Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control 
the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in 
making financial or operational decisions.

A number of transactions are entered into with related parties in the 
normal course of business. These transactions were carried out on 
commercial terms and at market rates. In addition to participating in 
retirement benefit plans sponsored by Ford and Volvo (discussed in 
note 24), FCE has a support agreement with Ford Credit in regard to 
Shareholders’ funds (detailed in note 29).

FCE has reported related party transactions within the following 
categories:
• Directors and officers – reported in Note 6 ‘Other operating expenses’,
• Subsidiaries of FCE – as detailed in Note 14 ‘Investments in group 

undertakings’,
• Parent undertakings – which includes Ford Credit International Inc., 

Ford Motor Credit Company and Ford Motor Company US. For 
further information refer to Note 42 ‘Other information’,

• Entities under common control – which includes all subsidiaries of 
Ford Motor Company US except for those entities already reported 
within Subsidiaries of FCE and parent undertakings. Transactions 
reported in this category include:
- Whereby FCE extends approved lines of credit, mortgages, working 
capital and other types of loans which mainly relates to automotive 
partner vehicle dealers in which Ford Motor Company maintains a 
controlling financial interest.

- The receipt of interest income from Ford and its related companies 
arising from loans, interest supplements and other support costs in 
regard to a variety of retail and wholesale finance plans.

- Guarantees provided on behalf of other related parties of which 
further details can be found in Note 25 ‘Contingent liabilities’.

- Guarantees received from other related parties in relating mainly to 
vehicle wholesale finance plans.
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32 Related party transactions (continued)

The volumes of related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year end, and relating expense and income for the year are as follows:

Company Subsidiaries  Parent  Entities Under
 of FCE undertakings  Common Control
 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil
Accounts Receivable      
Accounts receivable at 1 January £24 £168 £2 £-  £182 £ 116
Additions to accounts receivable during the year 17,037 6,916 1 2 2,962 3,333
Repayments of accts receivable during the year (17,060) (7,060) (2) - (3,001) (3,267)
Accounts receivable at 31 December 1 24 1 2 143 182
      
Loans      
Loans outstanding at 1 January 135 369 - - 228 241
Loans issued during the year 7,070 3,468 - - 7,012 4,776
Loan repayments during the year (7,060) (3,703) - - (7,087) (4,789)
Loans outstanding at 31 December 145 134 - - 153 228 

Accounts Payable
Accounts payable at 1 January 80 77 68 59 176 347
Additions to accounts payable during the year 1,498 1,403 6 9 21,897 17,008
Repayments of accts payable during the year (1,536) (1,400) (13) - (21,865) (17,179)
Accounts payable at 31 December 42 80 61 68 208 176

Deposits (Notes 20 and 22)
Deposits at 1 January 4 148 6,168 6,764 12 51
Deposits received during the year 49 - 1,755 3,355 17 131
Deposits repaid during the year (4) (144) (2,749) (3,951) (12) (170)
Deposits at 31 December 49 4 5,174 6,168 17 12

Revenue
Interest income related parties 1 6 - - 383 460
Service fees received/(paid) (Footnote 1) 1 1 (9) (8) (17) (28)
 
Expense
Interest expense on deposits - - 21 14 - -
Interest expense - 2 237 277 - 3
      
Guarantees
Guarantees provided (Note 25) - - - - 55 55
Guarantees received  - - - - 96 113
       
Group tax relief (Footnote 2) 6 - - - 140 78
      
Dividends received - - - - - -
      
Derivatives      
Derivatives year end positive fair value - - - - 22 8
Derivatives year end negative fair value - - - - - (12)

Footnotes:
1 Service fees received or paid – FCE receives technical and administrative advice and services from Ford and its related companies, occupies 

office space furnished and provided by Ford and its related companies and utilises data processing facilities maintained by Ford. The costs of 
these services are charged to ‘Other Operating expenses’. FCE also allocates central staff costs to its subsidiaries which benefit from the service.

2 Group tax relief – Group tax relief are the losses claimed from related UK companies to shelter FCE’s UK tax profits. Refer to Note 30 ‘Retained 
earnings and other reserves’ for details of a capital contribution received and payments made relating to Group tax relief.
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The volumes of related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year end, and relating expense and income for the year are as follows:

Group  Parent  Entities Under
  undertakings  Common Control
   2005 2004 2005 2004
   £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil
Accounts Receivable      
Accounts receivable at 1 January   £2 £- £182 £118
Additions to accounts receivable during the year   1 2 2,974 3,342
Repayments of accounts receivable during the year   (2) - (3,010) (3,278)
Accounts receivable at 31 December   1 2 146 182

Loans
Loans outstanding at 1 January   - - 228 241
Loans issued during the year   - - 7,012 4,776
Loan repayments during the year   - - (7,087) (4,789)
Loans outstanding at 31 December   - - 153 228

Accounts Payable
Accounts payable at 1 January   68 59 188 318
Additions to accounts payable during the year   6 9 22,380 17,403
Repayments of accounts payable during the year   (13)  - (22,350) (17,533)
Accounts payable at 31 December   61 68 218 188
      
Deposits (Notes 20 and 22)      
Deposits at 1 January   6,168 6,764 12 51
Deposits received during the year   1,755 3,355 17 131
Deposits repaid during the year   (2,749) (3,951) (12) (170)
Deposits at 31 December   5,174 6,168 17 12
      
Revenue      
Interest income   - - 394 475
Service fees received/paid (Footnote 1)   (9) (8) (18) (29)
       
Expense      
Interest expense on deposits   21 14 - -
Interest expense    237 277 - 3
      
Guarantees      
Guarantees provided (Note 25)   - - 55 55
Guarantees received    - - 96 113
       
Group tax relief (Footnote 2)   - - 140 139
      -
Dividend received (Note 4)   - - 1 -
      
Derivatives      
Derivatives year end positive fair value   - - 22 8
Derivatives year end negative fair value   - - - (12)

Footnotes:
1 Service fees received or paid – FCE receives technical and administrative advice and services from Ford and its related companies, occupies 

office space furnished and provided by Ford and its related companies and utilises data processing facilities maintained by Ford. The costs of 
these services are charged to ‘Other Operating expenses’.

2 Group tax relief – Group tax relief are the losses claimed from related UK companies to shelter FCE’s UK tax profits. Refer to Note 30 ‘Retained 
earnings and other reserves’ for details of a capital contribution received and payments made relating to Group tax relief.
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33 Acquisitions and disposals

Full service leasing
Under a new business model for the provision of full service leasing products (‘FSL’) the Company retains responsibility for marketing and sales, for which 
it receives a fee income, and outsources finance, leasing, maintenance and repair services for current and future portfolios of commercial operating leases 
to a preferred third party FSL business partner identified on a market by market basis. As part of this revised European strategy the Company has sold 
certain European FSL portfolios in 2004 and 2005 and outsourced the on-going provision of FSL products in those markets in the future. Accordingly, 
during 2005 the following FSL portfolio sales and outsourcing arrangements were agreed and implemented (2004 figures also included for comparatives):

        Company / Group

Country/Brand Sale dates Currency  2005 2004

  amount mils £ mil £ mil

Denmark January 2005 DKR 131 £12 £-

Belgium Volvo Car Finance November 2005 EUR€ 24 16 -

France December 2005 EUR€ 214 147 -

Germany December 2005 EUR€ 164 112 -

UK February 2004 GBP 130 - 130

Italy May 2004 EUR€ 48 - 32

Switzerland September 2004 CHF 22 - 10

Spain November 2004 EUR€ 71 - 50

Total sale proceeds    £287 £222

Net book value of portfolio    283 201

Gain on sale (Note 5)   £4 £21

34 Post balance sheet events

On 2 March 2006 the Company completed the sale to a third party of dealer 
floorplan receivables originated in Belgium and Luxembourg with an initial 
principal balance of approximately EUR€ 188 million and a subsequent 
maximum principal balance outstanding at any time of EUR€ 200 million. 
The consideration received was calculated on a discounted purchase 
price equal to 90% of the outstanding nominal value of each receivable 
and a deferred purchase element.

FCE Belgium will continue to perform the management of the assigned 
receivables in accordance with a factoring agreement entered into between 
the third party and FCE in return for FCE receiving a monthly servicing fee.
 

Contract lease purchase portfolio – UK
In November 2005 a UK contract lease portfolio was sold for a consideration of approximately £9 million. FCE will continue to handle the marketing 
and sales operation for contract lease in the UK, for which FCE will receive fee income, and has outsourced to the purchaser the remainder of the 
contract lease functions.

Ireland
On 23 December 2005 the Company agreed, with effect 3 January 2006, to outsource future provision of retail and lease finance in Ireland with a third party 
bank. Under the business model the Company outsourced responsibility for underwriting, origination, collections and litigation and recovery, including 
funding and credit/residual risk. A dedicated sales team will be employed by the third party bank with a matrix reporting line to the FCE Ireland Branch 
Manager. FCE will maintain sole responsibility for the local automotive sales company relationship in return for a fee income and profit share.

In addition, in February 2005 the Company outsourced the future provision 
of a full service leasing product in the Czech Republic to a preferred third 
party FSL business partner in return for future fee income. There was no 
portfolio sale.
 
The FSL business prior to the portfolio sales were accounted as ‘Operating 
leases’ and included in ‘Property and equipment’ within the balance 
sheet. The FSL business does not represent a discontinued activity as it 
is not a separate geographical area of operations and as the business 
continues in a different form, with FCE involvement in the sales and 
marketing, for which a commission is received. 
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35 Share-based payments

FCE offers share options held over Ford Motor Company (US) Common Stock to directors and employees. For more details about the various Ford 
Share Option plans please refer to the annual report of Ford Motor Company (US). The number and weighted average exercise price of share options 
granted to directors and employees of FCE after 7 November 2002 that have not vested by 1 January 2005 are as follows:

 2005 2004
Company / Group Number  Average Grant  Number  Average Grant 
 of shares Price of shares of shares Price of shares
  US$  US$
At 1 January 353,378 $11.05 150,666 $7.83
Granted 227,200 12.49 225,500 13.15
Exercised (1,551) 7.55 - -
Transfers In 26,207 10.02 - -
Transfers Out (21,307) 11.01 - -
Terminated (3,284) 11.33 (22,788) 10.47
At 31 December 580,643 $11.58 353,378 $11.05

Transfers in represents share options granted to employees who at the grant date were employees of another subsidiary of Ford Motor Company US 
and have since transferred to FCE. Transfers out represents share options granted to employees who at the grant date were employees of FCE and have 
since transferred to another subsidiary of Ford Motor Company US. 

The weighted average market share price of options exercised during 2005 was US$11.51 (2004: none).

Share options outstanding at the end of the year were as follows: 

 2005 2004
Range of Exercise Prices Weighted Average  Number  Weighted Average  Weighted Average  Number  Weighted Average 
 Grant Price of shares Remaining Life Grant Price of shares Remaining Life
US$ US$  Years US$  Years
7.51 – 9.50 $7.61 130,275 7.2 $7.61 126,010 8.2
9.51 – 11.50 10.11 13,668 7.4 10.11 13,668 8.4
11.51 – 13.50 12.81 436,700 8.8 13.15 213,700 9.3
At 31 December  580,643   353,378 

The estimated fair value of stock options at the time of grant using the Black Scholes pricing model was as follows:

 2005 2004
Weighted average fair value per option US$4.44 US$4.71
Dividend yield 3.2% 3.0%
Expected volatility 41.9% 42.2%
Risk-free interest rate 4.4% 3.4%
Expected option term (years) 7 7

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility over the last seven years.

Performance Stock rights over Ford Motor Company US Common Stock may be awarded to eligible directors. 
The number and weighted average market share price of awards are as follows:

 2005 2004
 Number of shares Average Market  Number of shares Average Market
  Price of shares  Price of shares
  US$  US$
 1,150 $12.49 - $-
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36 Currency risk

FCE although registered in the United Kingdom also operates branches 
in 15 other European countries. In addition, FCE has subsidiaries in the 
United Kingdom, Finland (where it also has a branch), Hungary, Poland 
and the Czech Republic that provide wholesale, leasing and retail vehicle 
financing. The main overseas operations are in the EU focused in France, 
Germany, Italy and Spain. 

The main operating (or ‘functional’) currencies are therefore Euro and 
Sterling. As the Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in 
Sterling, these will be affected by foreign currency exchange rate movements 
between Euro and Sterling. FCE does not hedge structural foreign currency 
investments in overseas operations as each investment is considered to 
be of a long term nature. 

Our policy is to minimise exposure to our operating results from changes 
in currency exchange rates. To meet funding objectives, we borrow in a 
variety of currencies. We face exposure to currency exchange rates if a 
mismatch exists between the currency of our receivables and the currency 
of the debt funding those receivables. When possible, we fund receivables 
with debt in the same currency, minimising exposure to exchange rate 
movements. When a different currency is used, we execute foreign 
currency derivatives to convert substantially all of our foreign currency 
debt obligations to the local country currency of the receivables.

As a result of this policy, we believe our market risk exposure relating to 
changes in currency exchange rates is immaterial. For additional information 
on our derivatives, see Note 11 ‘Derivative Financial Instruments’. Controls 
are in place to limit the size of transactional currency exposures.

 Company  Group

Assets, Liabilities and Shareholders’ equity 2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Assets:     

Denominated in sterling  £4,842 £5,072  £4,424 £4,024

Denominated in currencies other than sterling 12,630 13,648  13,077 14,615

Total Assets  17,472 18,720  17,501 18,639

     

Liabilities & shareholders’ equity:     

Denominated in sterling  3,202 3,169  4,760 4,861

Denominated in currencies other than sterling 14,270 15,551  12,741 13,778

Total Liabilities & shareholders’ equity  £17,472 £18,720  £17,501 £18,639

Foreign currency translation exposures arising from FCE’s investments in overseas branches and subsidiaries are detailed below.

 Company  Group

Structural currency exposures  2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Functional currency of operations involved 

Euro  £479 £409  £479 £409

Other Non Euro currencies  48 38  48 38

Total  £527 £447  £527 £447



Company / Group

Transactional currency exposure (2005)

  US Dollar Euro Sterling Other Total

Functional currency of Group operations  £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Euro  £- £- £(17) £- £ (17)

Sterling  (18) 35 - 3 20

Other  - - (1) - (1)

Total  £(18) £35 £(18) £3 £2

Transactional currency exposure (2004)     

  US Dollar Euro Sterling Other Total

Functional Currency of Group Operations  £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Euro  £- £- £(28) £- £(28)

Sterling  (6) (19) - 1 (24)

Other  - - (2) - (2)

Total  £(6) £(19) £(30) £1 £ (54)
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The table below shows transactional currency exposures which give rise to the net currency gains and losses recognised in the consolidated income 
statement. Such exposures comprise the monetary assets and liabilities that are not denominated in the operating (or ‘functional’) currency of the 
operating unit involved. The exposures shown below are stated net of derivatives used to hedge currency risk.

37 Interest rate risk

As a result of our interest rate risk management processes which utilise 
hedging derivatives and as some of assets are funded by equity, the total 
level of assets re-pricing is greater than the level of debt re-pricing. Other 
things being equal, this means that during a period of rising interest rates, 
the interest income received on our assets will increase more rapidly than 
the interest expense paid on our debt, thereby initially increasing our 
pre-tax net interest income. Correspondingly, during a period of falling 
interest rates, we would expect our pre-tax net interest income to initially 
decrease.

To provide a quantitative measure of the sensitivity of our pre-tax net interest 
income to changes in interest rates, we use interest rate scenarios that 
assume a hypothetical, instantaneous increase or decrease in interest 
rates of one percentage point across all maturities (a ‘parallel shift’), as 
well as a base case that assumes that interest rates remain constant at 
existing levels. These interest rate scenarios are purely hypothetical and do 
not represent our view of future interest rate movements. The differences 
in pre-tax net interest income between these scenarios and the base case 
over a twelve-month period represent an estimate of the sensitivity of our pre-
tax net interest income. This sensitivity as of year-end 2005 was as follows:

 Pre-Tax Net Interest Income impact  Pre-Tax Net Interest Income impact 

 given a one percentage point  given a one percentage point 

 instantaneous increase in interest rates instantaneous decrease in interest rates 

 £ mil £ mil

2005 £17.9 £(17.9)
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37 Interest rate risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis presented previously assumes a one-percentage 
point interest rate change to the year-end yield curve that is both 
instantaneous and parallel. In reality, interest rate changes are rarely 
instantaneous or parallel and rates could move more or less than the 
one percentage point assumed in our analysis. As a result, the actual 
impact to pre-tax net interest income could be higher or lower than the 
results detailed on the previous page.
 
Additional Model Assumptions
While the sensitivity analysis presented is our best estimate of the 
impacts of the specified assumed interest rate scenarios, our actual 
results could differ from those projected. The model we use to conduct 
this analysis is heavily dependent on assumptions. Embedded in the 
model are assumptions regarding the reinvestment of maturing asset 
principal, refinancing of maturing debt, and predicted repayment of 
retail installment sale and lease contracts ahead of contractual maturity. 
Our repayment projections ahead of contractual maturity are based on 

historical experience. If interest rates or other factors change, our actual 
prepayment experience could be different than projected. Additionally, 
as noted previously, the sensitivity analysis presented assumes interest 
rate changes are instantaneous, parallel shifts in the yield curve. In reality, 
changes are rarely instantaneous or parallel. We have presented our 
sensitivity analysis in this Report on a pre-tax rather than an after-tax 
basis, to exclude the potentially distorting impact of assumed tax rates.

Part of the return on financial instruments is obtained from the controlled 
mismatching of the dates on which the instruments mature or, if earlier, 
the dates on which interest receivable on assets and interest payable on 
liabilities are next reset to market rates. The table summarises these 
repricing mismatches as at 31 December 2005. Items are allocated to 
time bands by reference to the earlier of the next contractual interest 
repricing date and the maturity date. Non interest-bearing items are a 
consideration in the management of interest rate risk, the allocation of 
which to the time bands is not reflected below.

Company

At 31 December 2005      Non 

      Interest 

 0-3 Mths 4-6 Mths 7-12 Mths 1-5 Years 5+ Years Bearing Total

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Cash and advances to other banks £598 £- £- £- £- £14 £612

Loans and advances to customers 5,629 3,739 1,809 3,840 247 (118) 15,146

Other assets 303 9 20 218 3 1,161 1,714

Total assets £6,530 £3,748 £1,829 £4,058 £250 £1,057 £17,472

Due to other banks £3,031 £109 £- £- £- £2 £3,142

Due to parent & related undertakings 3,458 2,136 - 206 - 208 6,008

Debt securities in issue 4,586 - - 299 146 - 5,031

Other borrowed funds 446 74 - - - - 520

Other liabilities 83 7 15 25 - 437 567

Shareholders’ equity - - - - - 2,204 2,204

Total liabilities £11,604 £2,326 £15 £530 £146 £2,851 £17,472

Gap before hedge (5,074) 1,422 1,814 3,528 104 (1,794) -

Hedge impact 4,143 (741) (936) (2,466) - - -

Interest sensitivity gap (931) 681 878 1,062 104 (1,794) -

Cumulative interest sensitivity gap (931) (250) 628 1,690 1,794 - -
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Company

At 31 December 2004      Non 

      Interest 

 0-3 Mths 4-6 Mths 7-12 Mths 1-5 Years 5+ Years Bearing Total

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Cash and advances to banks £1,033 £- £- £- £- £4 £1,037

Loans & advances to customers 6,432 1,696 1,936 5,578 113 (150) 15,605

Other assets 832 1 12 32 1 1,200 2,078

Total assets £8,297 £1,697 £1,948 £5,610 £114 £1,054 £18,720

Due to other banks £1,914 £170 £- £- £- £ £2,084

Due to parent & related undertakings 4,295 2,238 40 243 - - 6,816

Debt securities in issue 6,656 - - - - - 6,656

Other borrowed funds 397 75 22 - - - 494

Other liabilities 63 11 103 117 - 398 692

Shareholders’ equity - - - - - 1,978 1,978

Total liabilities £13,325 £2,494 £165 £360 £- £2,376 £18,720

Gap before hedge (5,028) (797) 1,783 5,250 114 (1,322) -

Hedge impact 3,612 (473) (775) (2,364) - - -

Interest sensitivity gap (1,416) (1,270) 1,008 2,886 114 (1,322) -

Cumulative interest sensitivity gap (1,416) (2,686) (1,678) 1,208 1,322 - -

Company

Effective Interest Rates

Currency: EURO GBP USD Other

 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Assets

Cash and advances to banks 2.11% 2.07% 4.67% 4.34% - - 0.83% 0.43%

Loans and advances to customers 6.86% 6.99% 8.39% 8.42% - - 5.71% 5.81%

Liabilities

Due to other banks 2.70% 2.47% 4.33% 4.38% - - 3.34% 2.99%

Due to parent and related undertakings 4.40% 4.53% 6.50% 6.70% - - 6.63% 6.90%

Debt securities in issue 3.48% 2.96% 5.36% 5.29% 4.87% 2.87% 3.34% 3.40%

Other borrowed funds 3.47% 3.35% - - 4.05% 2.64% - -



82

37 Interest rate risk (continued)

Group

At 31 December 2005      Non 

      Interest 

 0-3 Mths 4-6 Mths 7-12 Mths 1-5 Years 5+ Years Bearing Total

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Cash and advances to other banks £1,028 £- £- £- £- £14 £1,042

Loans and advances to customers 5,686 3,754 1,873 3,932 247 (93) 15,399

Other assets 307 18 35 265 4 431 1,060

Total assets £7,021 £3,772 £1,908 £4,197 £251 £352 £17,501

Due to other banks £3,983 £118 £- £- £- £4 £4,105

Due to parent & related undertakings 2,390 2,136 - 206 - 218 4,950

Debt securities in issue 4,391 69 109 495 146 - 5,210

Other borrowed funds 446 74 - - - - 520

Other liabilities 66 8 15 26 - 483 598

Shareholders’ equity - - - - - 2,118 2,118

Total liabilities £11,276 £2,405 £124 £727 £146 £2,823 £17,501

Gap before hedge (4,255) 1,367 1,784 3,470 105 (2,471) -

Hedge impact 3,217 (602) (619) (1,996) - - -

Interest sensitivity gap (1,038) 765 1,165 1,474 105 (2,471) -

Cumulative interest sensitivity gap (1,038) (273) 892 2,366 2,471 - -

Group

At 31 December 2004      Non 

      Interest 

 0-3 Mths 4-6 Mths 7-12 Mths 1-5 Years 5+ Years Bearing Total

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Cash and advances to banks £1,350 £- £- £- £- £4 £1,354

Loans and advances to customers 6,514 1,746 1,949 5,718 112 (152) 15,887

Other assets 148 - 11 32 2 1,205 1,398

Total assets £8,012 £1,746 £1,960 £5,750 £114 £1,057 £18,639

Due to other banks £2,641 £187 £17 £- £- £- £2,845

Due to parent & related undertakings 3,215 2,238 40 243 - 227 5,963

Debt securities in issue 6,664 8 - 82 - - 6,754

Other borrowed funds 397 75 22 - - - 494

Other liabilities 69 11 104 304 - 239 727

Shareholders’ equity - - - - - 1,856 1,856

Total liabilities £12,986 £2,519 £183 £629 £- £2,322 £18,639

Gap before hedge (4,974) (773) 1,777 5,121 114 (1,265) -

Hedge impact 3,612 (473) (775) (2,364) - - -

Interest sensitivity gap (1,362) (1,246) 1,002 2,757 114 (1,266) -

Cumulative interest sensitivity gap (1,362) (2,608) (1,606) 1,151 1,265 - -
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Group

Effective Interest Rates

Currency: EURO GBP USD Other

 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Assets

Cash and advances to banks 2.11% 2.07% 4.67% 4.34% - - 2.22% 2.20% 

Loans and advances to customers 7.03% 6.81% 9.51% 8.66% - - 6.60% 6.61%

Liabilities

Due to other banks 2.69% 2.47% 4.11% 4.51% - - 3.34% 2.99%

Due to parent and related undertakings 4.40% 4.53% 6.55% 6.70% - - 6.63% 6.90%

Debt securities in issue 3.48% 2.96% 5.36% 5.29% 4.87% 2.87% 3.54% 4.05%

Other borrowed funds 3.47% 3.35% - - 4.05% 2.64% - -

38 Liquidity risk

The table below analyses assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at balance sheet date to the 
contractual maturity date.

Company

At 31 December 2005   0-3 Mths 4-12 Mths 1-5 Years 5+ Years Total

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Cash and advances to other banks £556 £- £- £56 £612

Derivative financial instruments 15 1 21 - 37

Loans and advances to customers 5,253 5,803 3,644 446 15,146

Goodwill and other intangible assets - - 7 251 258

Property and equipment 8 30 221 3 262

Deferred tax assets 8 19 14 4 45

Other assets 651 6 77 378 1,112

Total assets 6,491 5,859 3,984 1,138 17,472

     

Due to other banks  £429 £276 £2,152 £286 £3,143

Due to parent and related undertakings 1,202 2,403 2,403 - 6,008

Derivative financial instruments 37 18 25 - 80

Debt securities in issue 755 1,660 2,616 - 5,031

Other borrowed funds - - 261 259 520

Other liabilities 274 126 43 2,212 2,655

Deferred tax liabilities 14 3 4 14 35

Total liabilities 2,711 4,486 7,504 2,771 17,472

Net liquidity Gap £3,780 £1,373 £(3,520) £(1,633) £-

     

As at 31 December 2004     

Total assets 6,180 5,966 5,969 605 18,720

Total liabilities 4,108 3,598 7,773 3,241 18,720

Net liquidity gap £2,072 £2,368  £(1,804) £ (2,636) £-
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38 Liquidity risk (continued)

The profile of maturity groupings relating to loans and advances to customers and operating lease vehicles is based on a bullet repayment schedule 
according to the latest contractual maturity date. This assumes that the principal is repaid in one lump sum at the end of the contract and no behavioural 
adjustments have been made for customer prepayments. A bullet repayment schedule while appropriate to wholesale financing is different to typical 
retail financing payment patterns where customers pay instalments over the life of the contract.

Accordingly the liquidity position based on cash inflows and outflows is more favourable than the presentation for short term maturities.

Group

At 31 December 2005   0-3 Mths 4-12 Mths 1-5 Years 5+ Years Total

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Cash and advances to other banks £972 £- £14 £56 £1,042

Derivative financial instruments 17 1 21 - 39

Loans and advances to customers 5,297 5,900 3,756 446 15,399

Goodwill and other intangible assets - - 8 30 38

Property and equipment 15 56 268 3 342

Deferred tax assets 8 19 19 5 51

Other assets 564 9 17 - 590

Total assets 6,873 5,985 4,103 540 17,501

     

Liabilities     

Due to other banks £593 £539 £2,688 £285 £4,105

Due to parent and related undertakings 990 1,980 1,980 - 4,950

Derivative financial instruments 37 18 25 - 80

Debt securities in issue 782 1,719 2,709 - 5,210

Other borrowed funds - - 261 259 520

Other liabilities 287 130 50 2,126 2,593

Deferred tax liabilities 14 9 4 16 43

Total liabilities 2,703 4,395 7,717 2,686 17,501

Net Liquidity Gap £4,170 £1,590 £(3,614) £(2,146) £-

As at 31 December 2004

Total assets 6,243 6,125 6,118 153 18,639

Total liabilities 3,172 5,299 7,348 2,820 18,639

Net Liquidity gap £3,071 £826 £(1,230) £(2,667) £- 
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39 Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

Set out below is a comparison by category of book values and fair values 
of the financial assets and financial liabilities not presented on the balance 
sheet at their fair value.

Fair value is obtained by calculating the amount at which an asset or 
liability could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction between 
informed and willing parties other than a forced liquidation.

For short-term assets and liabilities, the book value approximates fair 
value because of the short maturities of these instruments.

Loans and advances to customers: The fair value is calculated by discounting 
anticipated future cash flows using an estimated discount rate that reflects 
the following:
• Expected credit losses 
• Customer prepayments
• Expected future interest rates

FCE uses statistical methods that divide receivables into segments by type 
of receivables and contractual term. For receivables with short maturities 
the book value approximates fair value.

Financial liabilities: The fair value is estimated based upon quoted market 
prices or current rates for similar debt or assets with the same remaining 
maturities.

Accordingly the information as presented does not purport to represent, 
nor should it be construed to represent, the underlying value of the 
business as a going concern.

 Carrying value  Fair value

Company  2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Financial assets     

Loans and advances to customers (Note 12) 15,146 15,605  15,245 15,763

 

Financial liabilities

Due to other banks (Note 19)  3,142 2,084  3,154 2,089

Due to parent and related undertakings (Note 20) 6,008 6,816  6,008 6,816

Debt securities in issue (Note 21)  5,031 6,656  5,012 6,750

 Carrying value  Fair value

Group  2005 2004  2005 2004

  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Financial assets     

Loans and advances to customers (Note 12) 15,399 15,887  15,492 16,071

 

Financial liabilities

Due to other banks (Note 19)  4,105 2,845  4,115 2,843

Due to parent and related undertakings (Note 20) 4,950 5,963  4,950 5,963

Debt securities in issue (Note 21)  5,210 6,754  5,191 6,848
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40 Notes to consolidated cash flow statement

 Company  Group

  2005 2004  2005 2004

Cash and cash equivalents  £ mil £ mil  £ mil £ mil

Bank balances and other liquid funds (Note 10) £612 £1,037  £1,042 £1,354

Bank overdrafts (Note 19)  (121) (182)  (128) (191)

 Cash and cash equivalents at end of period £491 £855  £914 £1,163

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise of balances held with less than 90 days maturity from the date 
of acquisition including treasury bills and other eligible bills, amounts due from other banks and petty cash, net of bank overdrafts. In the balance 
sheet, bank overdrafts are included in borrowings in liabilities.

41 Reconciliations UK GAAP to IFRS

I. Background
Due to the Company’s listed debt securities, FCE, along with other listed 
companies in the European Union, is required to prepare its consolidated 
financial statements under International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) for accounting periods beginning from 1 January 2005, including 
comparative figures for 2004. These are the first consolidated financial 
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. In order to obtain comparative 
figures, FCE has prepared an opening balance sheet at 1 January 2004, 
the date on which the effects from the transition to IFRS are recorded in 
shareholders’ equity.

This note presents quantitative data on the impact of the transition to 
IFRS on shareholders’ equity, income statement and balance sheet. An 
explanation on the main effects of transition to IFRS on the Group’s 
financial position and performance is set out in the following tables and 
the notes that accompany the tables.

II. Changes in Accounting policies and information presented under IFRS
Changes made to accounting policies to comply with IFRS are detailed 
in III . For each separate topic, a description of the new accounting policy 
under IFRS is provided as well as the quantitative impact on the balance 
sheet at 1 January 2004, on the income statement and on the balance 
sheet at 31 December 2004.

Only those accounting policies that have been changed are described. 
In applying IFRS 1 ‘First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards’ the significant differences between UK Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (GAAP) and IFRS are described in III. The format 
and contents of the quantified data have been prepared as indicated in 
IFRS 1 under ‘Implementation Guidance’ as follows:
• Reconciliation of Shareholders’ equity under current standards and 

under IFRS as of 1 January 2004 transition date (Table A),
• Reconciliation of Shareholders’ equity under current standards and 

under IFRS as of 31 December 2004 closing date, with the same 
format and level of information as at the transition date (Table B),

• Reconciliation of the income statement for the period 31 December 
2004 under current standards and under IFRS (Table C),

• Reconciliation of the balance sheet at 1 January 2004 under current 
standards and under IFRS (Table D),

• Reconciliation of the balance sheet at 31 December 2004 under current 
standards and under IFRS (Table E),

No reconciliation of the cash flow statement is required as FCE had not 
previously published a cash flow statement as part of its financial statements 
under UK Accounting Standard FRS 1 (FCE being a 100% owned subsidiary 
where the ultimate parent company financial statements include a cash 
flow statement).
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Notes to the financial statements

UK GAAP

Consolidation and preparation
In accordance with FRS 5, securitisation transactions 
which qualified are accounted for on the basis of linked 
presentation. Linked presentation requires that the 
securitised assets are included in the balance sheet 
together with the non-returnable proceeds as a deduction 
from the assets to which they relate. Income arising 
from the assets net of the related financing costs is 
included within the profit and loss account. 

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on acquisitions of subsidiaries or 
other business operations is capitalised and amortised 
through the profit and loss account on a straight-line 
basis over its expected economic life. Capitalised 
goodwill is written off when judged to be impaired. 
Prior to 1998, goodwill arising on the acquisition of 
subsidiaries was eliminated directly against reserves.

Share based payments
Where share options are granted, the charge made to 
the profit and loss account is the difference between 
the fair value at the time the award is made and any 
contribution made by the employee. For these purposes, 
fair value is equal to its intrinsic value.

Intangible assets other than goodwill 
The Group writes off the cost of computer software.

Loan origination costs
The Group writes off the cost of loan origination costs

III. Difference between UK GAAP and IFRS
The significant differences between the Group’s UK accounting policies and IFRS accounting policies are summarised below:

IFRS

IAS 27 Note 13 Accounting Policy K
Linked presentation is not available under IFRS. Therefore the gross assets and the related 
funding are presented separately in accordance with IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements’. This difference is referred to as ‘IAS 27 Securitisation’ in tables D & E.

IAS 36 Note 15 Accounting Policy M
Goodwill arising on acquisitions of subsidiaries or other business operations is capitalised 
and tested annually for impairment as required by IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’. Amounts 
recognised in the UK GAAP balance sheet at 1 January 2004 have been carried forward 
without adjustment to the balance sheet prepared in accordance with IFRS at deemed cost 
after being tested for impairment. Goodwill previously written off to reserves in accordance 
with UK GAAP has not been reinstated on the balance sheet. Goodwill amortised under UK 
GAAP in 2004 has been written back in the 2004 IFRS financial statements as an adjustment 
to opening reserves as at 1 January 2004. This difference is referred to as ‘IAS 36 Goodwill’ 
in tables A, B, C and E. 

IFRS 2 Note 35 Accounting Policy W
In accordance with IFRS 2 ‘Share Based Payments’ an annual charge is made in the income 
statement for share options based on the fair value of options granted. This charge is spread 
over the period the employees’ services are received, which is the vesting period. The fair 
value of the options is determined using option pricing models. This difference is less than 
£1 million and is included in ‘Other’ in tables A-E. 

IAS 38 Note 15 Accounting Policy M
IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’ requires the capitalisation of both external and directly related 
internal costs where the software will result in a directly measurable intangible asset. 
Amounts capitalised are amortised over their estimated useful lives.
At 1 January 2004, qualifying amounts previously written off under UK GAAP have been 
recognised as intangible assets in the 2004 IFRS financial statements as an adjustment to 
opening reserves as at 1 January 2004. This difference is referred to as ‘IAS 38 Software 
capitalisation’ in tables A-E. 

IAS 39  Accounting Policy C
Certain loan origination costs which can be directly associated to the origination of loans 
and advances to customers are offset with loan origination fees and deferred. In accordance 
with IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments, recognition and measurement’ origination fees receivable 
are amortised, using the effective interest method over the expected term of the related 
receivables. This difference is referred to as ‘IAS 39 Loan origination costs’ in tables A-E.
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41 Reconciliations UK GAAP to IFRS (continued)

UK GAAP

Offsetting of a Financial Asset 

and Liability (Offset) 

Under FRS 5, items are aggregated into a 

single item where there is a right to insist 

on net settlement and the debit balance 

matures no later than the credit balance.

Derivatives and hedge accounting

Derivatives used for hedging purposes are 

measured on an accruals basis consistent 

with the assets and liabilities. The gains 

and losses on these instruments which 

arise from changes in fair values are not 

recognised.

Deferred gains and losses on derivatives 

are included in the same line of the balance 

sheet with the underlying assets and 

liabilities. 

III. Difference between UK GAAP and IFRS (continued)

IFRS

IAS 32 Note 11 Accounting Policy Q
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet if, and 
only if, there is currently a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis at all times, or to realise an asset and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
Application of IAS 32 ‘Financial instruments, disclosures and presentation’ has resulted in certain 
transactions that qualified for offset under UK GAAP, being presented on a gross basis from 1 January 
2004. This difference is referred to as ‘IAS 32 Offset’ in tables A-E

IAS 39 Note 11 Accounting Policy G
IFRS requires all derivatives to be recorded at fair value. Providing all hedge accounting conditions 
are met and the hedging relationship is deemed to be effective, the derivative may be designated as 
a fair value or cash flow hedge. The change in value of the fair value hedge is recorded in income 
along with the change in fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable to the hedged 
risk. The change in value of a cash flow hedge is recorded in equity, to the extent that it is effective 
and recycled to income as the hedged cash flows affect the income statement.
FCE has adopted IAS 32 and 39 which have resulted in the creation of an initial cash flow hedging 
reserve as 31 December 2003 and the recognition of fair value movements on items subject to fair 
value hedge accounting. Therefore current and comparative information in these financial statements 
are fully compliant with the requirements of IAS 39. This difference is referred to as ‘IAS 39 Fair Value 
derivatives or IAS 39 derivatives’ in tables A-E

The reconciliations contained in the following tables relate to the Group. The accounting policy adjustments from UK GAAP to IFRS are reported gross 
and taxation and exchange differences are reported under the caption ‘Other’. Company figures are shown alongside Group figures for comparative 
purposes. It should be noted that the required accounting policy adjustments to transition to IFRS are identical for both the Company and Group. 
The major differences between the Company and Group IFRS adjustment figures relate to the cessation of Goodwill amortisation.

Table A: Reconciliation of shareholder’s equity under UK GAAP and IFRS at 1 January 2004

 Notes Share  Share  Retained  Reserves Total Total

  Capital premium earnings   Group Company

  £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Balance at 1 January 2004:

Under UK GAAP  £614 £352 £590 £- £1,556 £1,719

IAS 36 Goodwill 15 - - - - - -

IAS 39 Fair value derivatives 11 - - (15) (14) (29) (29)

IAS 39 Loan origination costs   - - 46 - 46 47

IAS 38 software capitalisation 15 - - 16 - 16 15

Taxation  - - (8) - (8) (7)

Other IAS impacts  - - (1) - (1) -

Total effects on transition to IFRS  - - 38 (14) 24 26

Under IFRS 29/30 £614 £352 £628 £(14) £1,580 £1,745
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Explanation of transition to IFRS

Table B: Reconciliation of shareholder’s equity under UK GAAP and IFRS at 31 December 2004

  Notes Share  Share  Retained  Reserves Total Total

   Capital premium earnings   Group Company

   £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Balance at 31 December 2004:

Under UK GAAP  £614 £352 £855 £- £1,821 £1,934

IAS 36 Goodwill 15 - - 5 - 5 16

IAS 39 Fair value derivatives 11 - - (18) (7) (25) (23)

IAS 39 Loan origination costs   - - 39 - 39 40

IAS 38 software capitalisation 15 - - 27 - 27 27

Taxation  - - (10) - (10) (16)

Other IAS impacts   - - (1) - (1) -

Total effects on transition to IFRS  - - 42 (7) 35 44

Under IFRS 29/30 £614 £352 £897 £ (7) £1,856 £1,978

Table C: Income statement restated to IFRS for the year ended 31 December 2004

 UK GAAP  IAS 36  IAS 39  IAS 39  IAS 38 Other  IFRS IFRS

 Group Goodwill Fair value Loan Software  Group Company

   derivatives origination capitalisation

    costs

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

Income/(expense)

Interest income £1,298 £- £- £(80) £- £(6) £1,212 £1,191

Interest expense (670) - - - - 3 (667) (665)

Fees and commission income 58 - - - - 6 64 55

Fees and commission payable (93) - - 73 - 15 (5) (4)

Other operating income 314 - - - - (18) 296 242

Operating income 907 - - (7) - - 900 819

Impairment losses on loans (86) - - - - (1) (87) (87)

Other operating expenses (256) - - - 11 (2) (247) (239)

Depreciation & amortisation  (242) 5 - - - 3 (234) (192)

Fair value adj. to derivatives - - (3) - - - (3) (1)

Profit before tax 323 5 (3) (7) 11 - 329 300

Income tax expenses (61) - (1) 2 (3) - (63) (73)

Profit after tax £262 £5 £(4) £(5) £8 £ - £266 £227
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41 Reconciliations UK GAAP to IFRS (continued)

Explanation of transition to IFRS (continued)

Reconciliation of balance sheet under UK GAAP and under IFRS as at 1 January 2004

Table D (Part 1 of 2): Reclassification of balance sheet assets from UK GAAP to IFRS format.

 Loans and Loans and  Debt  Intangible  Tangible  Other assets/  Prepayment Total 

 advances to  advances to  securities fixed assets fixed assets investments  & accrued  Assets

 banks customers     income

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

ASSETS UNDER UK 

GAAP AT 1 JAN 2004  £1,077 £14,748 £21 £12 £1,107 £395 £48 £17,408

ASSETS UNDER IFRS        

Cash and advances to banks 1,077 - 21 - - - - 1,098

Derivative financial instruments - - - - - - - -

Loans and advances to customers - 14,748 - - - - - 14,748

Goodwill and other intangible assets - - - 12 - - - 12

Property and equipment - - - - 1,107 - - 1,107

Deferred tax asset - - - - - 71 - 71

Other assets - - - - - 324 48 372

Group Assets £1,077 £14,748 £21 £12 £1,107 £395 £48 £17,408

Memo Company Assets £1,040 £15,040 £21 £160 £814 £471 £43 £17,589

Reclassification of balance sheet liabilities from UK GAAP to IFRS format.

 Deposits  Customer  Debt  Other  Accruals  Prov for  Sub-  Share-  Total 

 by banks accts securities liabilities and deferred  liabilities &  ordinated  holders’ Liabilities

     income charges liabilities funds 

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

LIABILITIES UNDER UK 

GAAP AT 1 JAN 2004  £499 £6,669 £7,416 £173 £412 £80 £603 £1,556 £17,408

LIABILITIES UNDER IFRS         

Due to other banks 499 - - - - - - - 499

Due to parent  - 6,669 - - - - - - 6,669

Derivative financial instruments - - - - - - - - -

Debt securities in issue - - 7,416 - - - - - 7,416

Other borrowed funds - - - - - - 603 - 603

Other liabilities - - - 173 412 - - - 585

Deferred tax liabilities - - - - - 80 - - 80

Shareholders’ funds - - - - - - - 1,556 1,556

Group Liabilities and 

Shareholders Equity £499 £6,669 £7,416 £173 £412 £80 £603 £1,556 £17,408

Memo Company Liabilities 

and Shareholders’ Equity £401 £6,880 £7,367 £158 £388 £73 £603 £1,719 £17,589
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Table D (Part 2 of 2): Transition from assets under UK GAAP to assets under IFRS.

 1 Jan IAS 39 IAS 39  IAS 38 IAS 27 IAS 32 Other 1 Jan 

 2004 UK Derivatives Loan  Software Securit- Offset IFRS  2004 UK 

 GAAP  origination  capital- isation  impacts IFRS

   costs isation

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

ASSETS         

Cash and advances to banks 1,098 - - - 81 - - 1,179

Derivative financial instruments - 99 - - - - - 99

Loans and advances to customers 14,748 4 51 - 1,720 (354) (3) 16,166

Goodwill and other intangible assets 12 - - 16 - - - 28

Property and equipment 1,107 - - - - - - 1,107

Deferred tax asset 71 - - - - - - 71

Other assets 372 (8) (5) - (1) 315 (2) 671

Group Assets £17,408 £95 £46 £16 £1,800 (39) £(5) £19,321

Memo Company Assets £17,589 £69 £47 £15 £1,620 £4 £(4) £19,340

Transition from liabilities under UK GAAP to liabilities under IFRS.

 1 Jan IAS 39 IAS 39  IAS 38 IAS 27 IAS 32 Other 1 Jan 

 2004 UK Derivatives Loan  Software Securit- Offset IFRS  2004 UK 

 GAAP  origination  capital- isation  impacts IFRS

   costs isation

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

LIABILITIES        

Due to other banks 499 - - - 1,419 - 10 1,928

Due to parent 6,669 79 - - - (39) (21) 6,688

Derivative financial instruments - 219 - - - - - 219

Debt securities in issue 7,416 29 - - 381 - 6 7,832

Other borrowed funds 603 (77) - - - - - 526

Other liabilities 585 (126) - - - - 9 468

Deferred tax liabilities 80 - - - - - - 80

Shareholders’ funds 1,556 (29) 46 16 - - (9) 1,580

Group Liabilities and 

Shareholders’ Equity £17,408 £95 £46 £16 £1,800 £(39) £(5) £19,321

Memo Company Liabilities 

and Shareholders’ Equity £17,589 £69 £47 £15 £1,620 £4 £(4) £19,340
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41 Reconciliations UK GAAP to IFRS (continued)

Explanation of transition to IFRS

Reconciliation of balance sheet under UK GAAP and under IFRS as at 31 December 2004

Table E (Part 1 of 2): Reclassification of balance sheet assets from UK GAAP to IFRS format.

 Loans and Loans and  Debt  Intangible  Tangible  Other assets/  Prepayment Total 

 advances to  advances to  securities fixed assets fixed assets investments  & accrued  Assets

 banks customers     income

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

ASSETS UNDER UK 

GAAP AT 31 DEC 2004  £972 £14,691 £299 £7 £739 £352 £28 £17,088

ASSETS UNDER IFRS        

Cash and advances to banks 972 - 299 - - - - 1,271

Derivative financial instruments - - - - - - - -

Loans and advances to customers - 14,691 - - - - - 14,691

Goodwill and other intangible assets - - - 7 - - - 7

Property and equipment - - - - 739 - - 739

Deferred tax asset - - - - - 91 - 91

Other assets - - - - - 261 28 289

Group Assets £972 £14,691 £299 £7 £739 £352 £28 £17,088

Memo Company Assets £959 £14,567 £299 £144 £651 £411 £26 £17,057

Reclassification of balance sheet liabilities from UK GAAP to IFRS format.

 Deposits  Customer  Debt  Other  Accruals  Prov for  Sub-  Share-  Total 

 by banks accts securities liabilities and deferred  liabilities &  ordinated  holders’ Liabilities

     income charges liabilities funds 

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

LIABILITIES UNDER UK 

GAAP AT 31 DEC 2004 £1,620 £5,856 £6,530 £185 £392 £82 £602 £1,821 £17,088

LIABILITIES UNDER IFRS         

Due to other banks 1,620 - - - - - - - 1,620

Due to parent - 5,856 - - - - - - 5,856

Derivative financial instruments - - - - - - - - -

Debt securities in issue - - 6,530 - - - - - 6,530

Other borrowed funds - - - - - - 602 - 602

Other liabilities - - - 185 392 - - - 577

Deferred tax liabilities - - - - - 82 - - 82

Shareholders’ funds - - - - - - - 1,821 1,821

Group Liabilities and 

Shareholders Equity £1,620 £5,856 £6,530 £185 £392 £82 £602 £1,821 £17,088

Memo Company Liabilities 

and Shareholders’ Equity £1,514 £5,926 £6,477 £182 £375 £47 £602 £1,934 £17,057
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Table E (Part 2 of 2): Transition from assets under UK GAAP to assets under IFRS

 31 Dec IAS 36 IAS 39 IAS 39  IAS 38 IAS 27 IAS 32 Other 31 Dec

 2004 UK Goodwill Derivatives Loan  Software Securit- Offset IFRS  2004 UK 

 GAAP   origination  capital- isation  impacts IFRS

    costs isation

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

ASSETS 

Cash and advances to banks 1,271 - - - - 83 - - £1,354

Derivative financial instruments - - 69 - - - - - 69

Loans and advances to customers 14,691 - - 39 - 1,298 - (141) 15,887

Goodwill and other intangible assets 7 5 - - 27 - - - 39

Property and equipment 739 - - - - - - - 739

Deferred tax asset 91 - - - - - - - 91

Other assets 289 - (11) - - - - 182 460

Group Assets £17,088 £5 £58 £39 £27 £1,381 £- £41 £18,639

Memo Company Assets £17,057 £16 £69 £40 £27 £1,473 £- £38 £18,720

Transition from liabilities under UK GAAP to liabilities under IFRS.

 31 Dec IAS 36 IAS 39 IAS 39  IAS 38 IAS 27 IAS 32 Other 31 Dec

 2004 UK Goodwill Derivatives Loan  Software Securit- Offset IFRS  2004 UK 

 GAAP   origination  capital- isation  impacts IFRS

    costs isation

 £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil £ mil

LIABILITIES        

Due to other banks £1,620 £- £- £- £- £1,224 £- £1 £2,845

Due to parent 5,856 - 67 - - - - 40 5,963

Derivative financial instruments -  186 - - -   186

Debt securities in issue 6,530 - 68 - - 157 - (1) 6,754

Other borrowed funds 602 - (108) - - - - - 494

Other liabilities 577 - (130) - - - - 12 459

Deferred tax liabilities 82 -  - - - - - 82

Shareholders’ funds 1,821 5 (25) 39 27 - - (11) 1,856

Group Liabilities and 

Shareholders‘ Equity £17,088 £5 £58 £39 £27 £1,381 £- £41 £18,639

Memo Company Liabilities 

and Shareholders‘ Equity £17,057 £16 £69 £40 £27 £1,473 £- £38 £18,720
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42 Other information

Domicile: 
United Kingdom (UK).

Legal form:
FCE Bank plc (FCE) is a regulated bank and is authorised as a deposit 
taking business and insurance intermediary under the Financial Services 
and Markets Act of 2000 and is regulated by the UK Financial Services 
Authority. FCE also holds a standard license under the UK Consumer 
Credit Act of 1974 and other licenses to conduct financing business in 
other European locations. FCE operates through branches in 15 European 
countries having exercised passport rights to undertake regulated activities 
in these countries pursuant to the Banking Consolidation and Insurance 
Mediation Directives.

Country of registration:
England and Wales

Registered office:
Eagle Way, Brentwood, Essex, CM13 3AR 
United Kingdom Registered no: 772784.

FCE has seven UK subsidiaries (listed below) which share the same 
registered office as FCE Bank plc:

Automotive Finance Limited
FCE Leasing (Holdings) Limited
FCE Leasing Limited
Ford Automotive Leasing Limited
Jaguar Financial Services Limited
Meritpoint Limited
Primus Automotive Financial Services Limited

The registered office of the remaining UK subsidiary is as follows:
Volvo Car Finance Limited
Globe Park,
Marlow,
Buckinghamshire,
SL7 1YQ

In addition to the UK subsidiaries listed above FCE has subsidiaries in 
the Czech Republic, Finland (where it also has a branch), Hungary and 
Poland – refer to European operating locations for addresses of the 
Company’s European branches and subsidiaries.

Nature of operations and principal activities:
The Company’s primary business is to support the sale of Ford and 
affiliated manufacturer’s vehicles in Europe through the respective 
dealer networks. A variety of retail, leasing and wholesale finance plans 
are provided in which the Company and its subsidiaries operate.

In European markets, FCE offers most of our products and services 
under the Ford Credit/Bank, Volvo Car Finance, Land Rover Financial 
Services, Jaguar Financial Services and Mazda Credit/Bank brands – 
refer to European operating locations for further details. FCE through its 
Worldwide Trade Financing (WTF) division provides financing to dealers 
in countries where typically there is no established local Ford presence. 
WTF currently provides finance in over 70 countries. In addition there 
are private label operations in some European markets.

Immediate parent undertaking: 
FCE’s immediate parent undertaking is Ford Credit International Inc. (FCI). 
FCI does not produce consolidated accounts being wholly owned by, and 
consolidated into the accounts of Ford Motor Credit Company (FMCC).

Ultimate parent undertaking: 
The ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party is Ford Motor 
Company (US). All three companies (Ford Motor Company, FCI and 
FMCC) are incorporated in the United States of America.

Copies of the consolidated accounts for Ford Motor Credit Company 
and Ford Motor Company (US) may be obtained from Ford Motor 
Company (US), The American Road, Dearborn, Michigan 48121, United 
States of America.
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Additional data Web site addresses

FCE Bank plc. 

• Annual report and accounts  http://www.fcebank.com
(English, Spanish and Italian versions) or

  http://www.fordfinancialeurope.com
 

Ford Motor Company  http://www.ford.com/en/company/investorInformation/
(Ultimate Parent Company) including:

• Annual report
• Financial results
• Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filings

Ford Motor Credit Company  http://www.fordcredit.com/investorcenter
including:

• SEC Form 10K Annual report
• SEC Form 10-Q Quarterly reports
• Quarterly Financial results announcements
• Ford Credit public asset-backed securities transactions 

Web site addresses 

Additional data and web resources, including those listed below can be obtained from the following web site addresses:
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Location Address Additional Trading Styles

AUSTRIA Ford Bank Austria Zweigniederlassung der FCE Bank plc,  JFS, LRFS, M, VCF
 Fuerbergstrasse 51, Postfach 2, A-5021 Salzburg

BELGIUM* FCE Bank plc,  JFS, LRFS, VCF, M
 Groenenborgerlaan 16, B-2610 Wilrijk – Antwerp

 Volvo Car Finance,  VCF
 Hunderenveldlaan 10, B-1082 Brussels

CZECH REPUBLIC FCE Credit s.r.o.,  VCF
 Thamova 16, 186 00 Prague 8

DENMARK FCE Bank plc,  VCF, R, M
 Borupvang 5 D-E, 2750 Ballerup

FINLAND FCE Bank plc,  P, VCF
 Taivaltie 1 B, 01610 Vantaa

 Volvo Car Finance Limited,  VCF, R
 Taivaltie 1 B, 01610 Vantaa

FRANCE FCE Bank plc, Succursale France,  JFS, LRFS, M, P, VCF
 34 Rue De La Crioix De Fer, Saint Germain En Laye, 78174

 
GERMANY Ford Bank Niederlassung der FCE Bank plc, Zentrale,  
 Josef-Lammerting-Allee 24-34, 50933 Köln

 Mazda Bank, Niederlassung der FCE Bank plc,  +
 Hitdorfer Strasse. 73, D-51371 Leverkusen

 Jaguar Financial Services Niederlassung der FCE Bank plc,  +
 Josef-Lammerting-Allee 24-34, 50933 Köln

 Land Rover Financial Services Niederlassung der FCE Bank plc,  +
 Josef-Lammerting-Allee 24-34, 50933 Köln

European operating locations

In addition to providing retail and wholesale finance for Ford vehicles, the Company’s European branches and subsidiaries have established 
additional finance facilities and associated trading styles for Ford affiliated manufacturers in Europe as indicated and detailed in the key below.
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Location Address Additional Trading Styles

GREECE FCE Bank plc,  VCF
 4 Konstandinoupoleos Ave & St Gonata, 12133 Peristeri, Athens

HUNGARY FCE Credit Hungária Zrt/FCE Services Kft (Hungary),  VCF
 1023 Budapest, Árpád, Fejedelem Útja 26-28 

IRELAND FCE Bank plc,  LRFS, VCF, HFS
 6th floor, Hume House, Pembroke Road, Ballsbridge, Dublin 4

ITALY FCE plc,  JFS, LRFS, P, M, VCF
 Via Andrea Argoli 54, 00143 Rome

NETHERLANDS FCE Bank plc,  JFS, LRFS, M, VCF
 Amsteldijk 216/217, Postbus 795, 1000 AT, Amsterdam

 Volvo Car Finance Netherlands,  VCF +
 Stationsweg 2, NL-4153 RD Beesd

NORWAY FCE Bank Norsk Avdeling Av Utenlandsk Foretak,  LRFS, P, VCF, M, R
 Pb 514, 1411 Kolbotn, Oslo, Norway

POLAND FCE Credit Poland S.A./FCE Bank Polska S.A.,  VCF
 Aleje Jerozolimskie 181, PL-02-222, Warsaw

PORTUGAL FCE Bank plc,  LRFS, M, JFS
 Rua Rosa Araujo 2, 6th floor, Parish of Caracao de Jesus, 1250-195 Lisbon

SPAIN FCE Bank plc Sucursal en España,  JFS, LRFS, M, P, VCF
 calle Caléndula, 13, 28109 Alcobendas, Madrid 

SWEDEN FCE Bank plc (England), Bankfilialen i Sverige,  M
 Ravebergsvagen, 405 31 Goteburg, 

SWITZERLAND FCE Bank plc,  M, VCF
 Geerenstrasse 10, CH-8304 Wallisellen

All locations use Ford Financial as an additional trading style. Ford Credit is commonly used through most European locations.

Key to Additional Trading Styles:
JFS = Jaguar Financial Services; LRFS = Land Rover Financial Services; P = PRIMUS (non Ford affiliated), R = Renault; 
VCF = Volvo Car Finance; M = Mazda Credit, HFS = Henry Ford & Son Finance
+ Ford vehicle financing is not undertaken by this location as it is provided by FCE/Ford Bank Branch within that country
* Also conducts business in Luxembourg.

For details of the Registered Office address for FCE in the UK and its subsidiaries refer to Note 42 ‘Other Information’.
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